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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  My name is

          3  Kendall Stewart, and I am the Chair of the

          4  Immigration Committee.  Thank you all for coming to

          5  today's hearing, which will focus on the rising

          6  demand for English for Speakers of Other Languages,

          7  or ESOL programs, among immigrant adults in New York

          8  City.

          9                 One of the most visible and unique

         10  features of the United States is the cultural and

         11  linguistic diversity of its population.

         12  Approximately 15 percent of adults aged 18 and older

         13  in the United States are foreign-born.  An

         14  increasing number of these individuals rely on adult

         15  education programs to acquire the basic English

         16  literacy and language skills necessary to fully

         17  participate in their communities.

         18                 Like other states that are

         19  traditional settlement areas for immigrants, such as

         20  California, Florida and Texas, adult English

         21  language learners continue to be highly concentrated

         22  in New York.  There are 3.9 million immigrants

         23  residing in New York State, and more than one in

         24  four adult New Yorkers, or 27 percent, are

         25  foreign-born.

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 From 2000 to 2005, the state's

          3  immigrant population increased by over seven

          4  percent, and since 2000 alone, 270,000 immigrants

          5  have settled in New York State.

          6                 The largest number of state's

          7  foreign- born population resides in New York City,

          8  which is home to nearly three million immigrants,

          9  and the population continues to grow.  Foreign- born

         10  residents throughout the state constitute the

         11  overwhelmingly majority, 80 percent of New Yorkers

         12  with limited English skills.            In 2005,

         13  more than 1.6 million adult New York residents,

         14  which comprise about 14 percent of all adult aged 18

         15  to 64 in the state, spoke English less than very

         16  well, representing a six percent increase since

         17  2000.

         18                 Many recently arrived immigrant

         19  adults in New York have limited English skills, and

         20  79 percent of foreign- born English speakers in the

         21  state have only basic or below basic prose literacy,

         22  which is below the national average.  In New York

         23  City, a quarter of all adults, or more than 1.2

         24  million, have inadequate English skills.

         25                 For the current generation of
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          2  immigrants, English language limitations

          3  considerably hamper their opportunities for economic

          4  stability and progress.  Without proficiency in

          5  English language, it is exceedingly difficult to

          6  establish a path for career advancement.  English

          7  language skills are ever more important in the 21st

          8  century economy, during which job prospects between

          9  high- skill and lowest- skill occupations are

         10  dwindling, or in some areas non- existent.

         11                 Immigrants in New York are more

         12  likely to be in or near poverty and lacking English

         13  proficiency is a significant barrier to some of the

         14  most reliable channels out of poverty for recent

         15  immigrants.

         16                 Limited English skills among a

         17  growing immigrant workforce also have a negative

         18  impact on businesses.  Businesses in various sectors

         19  are employing immigrants in large numbers, mainly

         20  for entry- level positions, but there are few

         21  opportunities for advancement without English

         22  proficiency.  English language limitations among

         23  workers decrease productivity, promote turnover and

         24  inhibit job development within businesses.

         25                 ESOL programs have to address the
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          2  issues that stem from limited English proficiency.

          3  However, the supply of these programs in New York

          4  State, including New York City, has not met the

          5  demand.  Although the New York immigrant population

          6  has substantially increased in recent years, ESOL

          7  programs administered by the state have fallen far

          8  short of fulfilling these particular needs.  In New

          9  York City, a dismal three percent of those with

         10  English language limitations were served by these

         11  programs.

         12                 The Committee expects to learn the

         13  extent of this problem in New York City and show how

         14  it can be effectively addressed.  I look forward to

         15  today's testimony.

         16                 Before we hear from the Director of

         17  the newly created Mayor's Office of Adult Education,

         18  I would like to recognize my colleague, who has

         19  recently joined me, Council Member Barron, and I

         20  have my staff here, Jennine and Counsel Thomas and

         21  my Consulate Assistant Boucher (phonetic).  Mr.

         22  Barron, welcome.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair and thank you for this timely hearing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, at this
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          2  time we know some of our colleagues will be joining

          3  shortly, but I would like to call on the Director of

          4  the newly created Mayor's Office of Adult Education,

          5  Mr. Anthony Tassi.  Welcome, sir.

          6                 MR. TASSI:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          7  Good morning to you and to Council Member Barron,

          8  members of your staff, members of the public.  Thank

          9  you for joining us for this important hearing.  I'd

         10  also like to introduce the members of my staff here

         11  in the first row.  We're also joined by Senior Staff

         12  from the Department of Youth and Community

         13  Development.  In the event that you actually ask any

         14  very hard questions, I'll be inviting them to supply

         15  the answers since they are actually the experts.  As

         16  you know, Commissioner Mullgrav is a true leader in

         17  this field, and she has sent her senior advisors

         18  here to be us this morning.

         19                 My name is Anthony Tassi, and I am

         20  the Director of the Mayor's Office of Adult

         21  Education.  I want to thank you very much for

         22  inviting me to testify before this Committee this

         23  morning on the need for English language classes.

         24  This is a topic of considerable importance to the

         25  Administration and an issue that will have
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          2  significant impact on the future well- being of our

          3  City.

          4                 I applaud your leadership, Mr.

          5  Chairman, in taking on this issue.  I think that

          6  there is no better time than now for us to be having

          7  this conversation.  We are truly at a unique moment

          8  in our City's history, and I think that the stars

          9  are truly aligning on this issue.  I come before you

         10  this morning very optimistic.  I see many reasons to

         11  be hopeful, and we have before us a number of good

         12  opportunities to do something very significant for

         13  immigrant communities throughout the City  But

         14  before I address these opportunities, let me just

         15  offer a few words of background on adult education

         16  in New York.

         17                 The Mayor established the Office of

         18  Adult Education in October, 2006 to strengthen the

         19  adult education system and improve outcomes for

         20  immigrant and low income families.  He charged my

         21  office with coordinating policy across City

         22  agencies, promoting innovation and best practices

         23  among programs and connecting participating agencies

         24  to the Administration's key priorities.  The Office

         25  is responsible for working with a range of City,
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          2  state and federal agencies to advance adult

          3  education in New York City.

          4                 When we speak about adult education,

          5  we are talking about a system of publicly funded

          6  free classes that are offered by the Department of

          7  Education, CUNY, the public libraries, HRA and

          8  numerous very solid community- based organizations

          9  under contract either to the Department of Youth and

         10  Community Development, the State Education

         11  Department, or the State Office of Temporary and

         12  Disability Assistance.

         13                 I should also note that several other

         14  agencies play an important, albeit more modest role,

         15  in providing adult education classes to eligible

         16  individuals.  These agencies include the Department

         17  of Small Business Services, New York City Housing

         18  Authority, Department of Parks and Recreation and

         19  the State University of New York.

         20                 Across all of these agencies there

         21  are really two main types of instruction.  The first

         22  is English for speakers of other languages.  In our

         23  system, we have classes that range from ESL

         24  literacy, and that's for immigrants with very

         25  limited native language literacy skills, all the way
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          2  up to advanced classes for immigrants who have

          3  higher education degrees and just need to perfect

          4  their English for work or for further study.

          5                 We also have what are known as adult

          6  basic education classes.  These range from literacy,

          7  that is, teaching people to read and write, all the

          8  way up to GED preparation.  These classes in adult

          9  basic education are for adults who already speak

         10  English.

         11                 While I know that the focus of this

         12  hearing is on the demand for ESOL programs in

         13  particular, I would like to bring to the Committee's

         14  attention the adult basic education classes.

         15                 Traditionally, many people have

         16  thought of ESOL as being for immigrants and ABE as

         17  being for high school drop-outs who have decided to

         18  go back to school later in life.  However, the

         19  reality is that the ABE program serves a large and

         20  growing number of immigrants as well.  In thinking

         21  about educational programs for immigrants, we need

         22  to remember the important role of basic literacy as

         23  a precondition for English language acquisition and

         24  that the GED is a critically important credential

         25  for immigrant New Yorkers, one that we hope, I
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          2  should say, will be but a stepping stone and not a

          3  terminal degree.

          4                 Given the growing number of

          5  immigrants in New York with both limited English

          6  proficiency and little formal education in their

          7  native country, ABE classes should be of concern to

          8  this Committee in its interest in improving

          9  education for immigrants.

         10                 Let me turn now to a brief discussion

         11  of the strengths of the current system.  I think

         12  understanding the strengths and building off of

         13  these assets is really the key to our collective

         14  ability to meet more of the surging demand for ESOL

         15  classes.

         16                 The first and most obvious strength

         17  of our system is our student population.  There are

         18  approximately 62,000 individuals in adult education

         19  classes in New York City.  Roughly 41,000 of them

         20  are enrolled in ESOL classes.  As I mentioned

         21  earlier, many of the remaining 21,000 students in

         22  ABE classes are immigrants as well, and have already

         23  gained a basic fluency in English.

         24                 Mayor Bloomberg recognized and

         25  honored the intelligence and talents of these
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          2  students when he said, "New Yorkers who sign up for

          3  adult education classes come from all walks of life

          4  and from every corner of the world.  They bring with

          5  them a wealth of experience and thirst for a better

          6  life for themselves and their families.  They are

          7  poets, mathematicians, community leaders and

          8  aspiring entrepreneurs, and it has been a great

          9  honor for me to have the opportunity to get to know

         10  many of these students.  They are an inspiration to

         11  me and to my colleagues, and they are the best

         12  bosses that you could hope to have in public

         13  service."

         14                 Another incredibly important strength

         15  of our system lies in the teachers who have chosen

         16  to make careers in adult education.  For many new

         17  immigrants struggling to learn English and to make

         18  their way in a new country, their ESOL teacher is

         19  their lifeline.  In addition to helping them master

         20  the language, teachers provide their students with

         21  guidance and advice, mentoring and coaching and

         22  sometimes, when times to get tough, even a shoulder

         23  to cry on.

         24                 ESOL teachers are an incredibly

         25  important resource in the process of integrating new
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          2  immigrants into mainstream society.  Adult education

          3  teachers are supported by a number of outstanding

          4  program managers who oversee high quality

          5  instructional programs.  The hallmark of these great

          6  managers is that they are never content with

          7  achieving good results.  They work hard to

          8  continually improve their services and seek out best

          9  practices from the field to strengthen their

         10  operations.

         11                 Another great strength of our system

         12  that I'd like to mention is the wide diversity of

         13  organizations that provide adult education services.

         14    They range from small grassroots CBO's that just

         15  provide classroom space to host a teacher from the

         16  Department of Education, to more resource-intensive

         17  programs located on CUNY college campuses, and we

         18  have everything in between these two extremes.  The

         19  participation of such a wide diversity of

         20  organizations give adult education in our City a

         21  tremendous vitality.

         22                 Programs are supported by funding

         23  from an array of federal, state and local sources.

         24  The Council's longstanding commitment to ESOL in the

         25  immigrant opportunities initiative is noteworthy in
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          2  this regard.

          3                 While the Committee should applaud

          4  the outstanding work of adult educators and be proud

          5  of your important role in supporting them, it also

          6  must be noted that the system is simply too small to

          7  meet the current needs for ESOL and ABE services

          8  among immigrants.  Indeed, we have funding in place

          9  to serve only 62,000 students, an unacceptably small

         10  fraction of the total population in need.

         11                 This Committee is well aware of the

         12  tremendous success New York enjoys in attracting new

         13  immigrants.  You are also aware, no doubt, of the

         14  steady increase we have seen in the number of New

         15  Yorkers with limited English proficiency.  According

         16  to the 2000 census, there are 1.5 million limited

         17  English proficient adults 21 and over in New York

         18  City.  I think that it is safe to assume that today

         19  in 2007, the current number of LEP adults in New

         20  York is well in excess of the 1.5 million estimated

         21  in census 2000.

         22                 To give you some perspective on the

         23  potential for growth, from 1990 to 2000, the number

         24  of LEP adults in New York City increased by more

         25  than 400,000 people.
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          2                 It is also important to mention the

          3  changing characteristics of the limited English

          4  proficient population in New York City.  Perhaps the

          5  most noteworthy development is the rapid growth of

          6  individuals who speak only the most basic,

          7  rudimentary English and who have very low levels of

          8  educational attainment in their native country.

          9  From 1990 to 2000, the number of adults in New York

         10  who told a census that they speak English not at all

         11  or not well, and that they do not have a high school

         12  education, increased by more than 100,000 to reach

         13  488,000 people.  That's a 26 percent increase in

         14  just ten years.

         15                 Now if we factor in the likely growth

         16  from census 2000 to today, we are talking about a

         17  population that is one and a half times bigger than

         18  the entire population of the City of Miami. That is

         19  a staggering number of adults living in New York who

         20  speak almost no English at all and have limited

         21  functional literacy skills below the high school

         22  level.  It is all the more alarming when you

         23  consider that the poverty rate among these adults is

         24  approximately 31 percent, as compared to roughly 18

         25  percent for all adults living in New York City.
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          2                 However, in the face of such daunting

          3  challenges, I see tremendous cause for hope and

          4  optimism.  Working together, we can make significant

          5  difference in these conditions.  I think that the

          6  time has never been better than it is today for

          7  systemic improvements.

          8                 Let me take a few minutes just to

          9  outline what the Administration is doing to address

         10  the urgent need for adult education services.  As

         11  you'll hear, part of our strategy is to shore up,

         12  support and strengthen the system, and part of our

         13  strategy is to drive new resources into the field to

         14  expand the number of people served.

         15                 The first thing that I would like to

         16  mention is the Bloomberg Administration's

         17  recognition of the central role that language and

         18  literacy skills play in many of the Mayor's most

         19  important social policy priorities, such as reducing

         20  poverty, improving health and increasing educational

         21  attainment.

         22                 With this awareness, and on the

         23  advice of Deputy Mayor Dennis Walcott, the Mayor

         24  designated me as the point person to oversee the

         25  ESOL and ABE systems across City agencies and
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          2  coordinate policy.  The good news is that this

          3  policy commitment and programmatic interest has been

          4  matched by an infusion of new resources into the

          5  field.

          6                 As this Committee knows, last year

          7  the Mayor committed and baselined $5 million in

          8  federal community development block grant funding to

          9  strength the adult education system.  These funds

         10  were allocated to four general purposes.  First, to

         11  stabilize designated CBO's that lost state funding

         12  in the most recent procurement cycle.  Second, to

         13  seed innovative pilot projects that integrate

         14  preparation for health care job training programs

         15  into the ABE and ESOL classes.  Third, to strengthen

         16  and expand the program of instruction for ex-

         17  offenders, and fourth, to create a new television

         18  show that will help hundreds of thousands of

         19  immigrants improve their English skills.

         20                 In this year's Executive Budget, the

         21  Mayor has allocated an additional $3.8 million in

         22  City tax levy for Fiscal Year '08 and $5.3 million

         23  for Fiscal Year '09.  These funding amounts include

         24  resources to carry out a comprehensive strategic

         25  plan to coordinate and expand the City's adult
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          2  education system.

          3                 I think that it is worth noting that

          4  these commitments, in excess of $10 million in new

          5  funding for the system by Fiscal Year '09, represent

          6  a very significant expansion of the amounts

          7  historically allocated to the system by the City.

          8                 These new funds provided by the Mayor

          9  will expand our commitment to adult literacy

         10  pursuant to a strategic plan that we will begin to

         11  develop this summer.  Representatives of all

         12  stakeholders of the system, students, teachers,

         13  public and private funders, employers and especially

         14  elected officials, will be consulted in this process

         15  to forge a broad consensus on the elements of a

         16  coordinated and expanded adult education system and

         17  to determine the resource requirements to achieve an

         18  even higher level of performance.

         19                 As we develop this plan, it is my

         20  belief that additional investments can be pursued.

         21                 That is our vision for how we can

         22  meet more of the demand for ESOL classes, a

         23  comprehensive planning process that builds consensus

         24  on the future shape and scope of the adult education

         25  system and clearly articulates the case for
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          2  additional investment.

          3                 Because our challenge is so great, we

          4  need to think big and make decisions strategically.

          5  For each funding source and public program we will

          6  work with our partners and stakeholders to ask hard

          7  questions such as, what are the goals for the

          8  program?            Are they consistent with what we

          9  know works to move immigrants out of poverty?

         10                 Are the resources available to

         11  organizations to truly achieve the stated goals of

         12  the program?

         13                 What is the process by which adult

         14  education programs can apply for and access funding?

         15

         16                 Does the funding mechanism build

         17  capacity of organizations and give them the

         18  opportunity to plan for services over several years?

         19

         20                 How can better coordination leverage

         21  other funding sources and new resources for programs

         22  to use?

         23                 What are the mechanisms for

         24  accountability and continuous quality improvement to

         25  ensure that we are maximizing outcomes for immigrant
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          2  families?

          3                 How can we develop common outcome

          4  measures to evaluate success and appraise services?

          5                 How can we ensure that programs are

          6  effectively coordinated across providers and across

          7  funding streams?

          8                 And, finally, how are programs linked

          9  to next steps for students, including employment

         10  training and post- secondary education?

         11                 The active participation of this

         12  Committee in the planning process I've mentioned

         13  will be critically important to its success, and I

         14  look forward to working closely with the Chairman

         15  and the other members of the Committee as we move

         16  forward in this process.

         17                 Before I conclude my remarks, I would

         18  like to draw the attention of this Committee to one

         19  other initiative of the Administration, the creation

         20  of a new television show to help immigrants improve

         21  their English skills.

         22                 No matter how much we are able to

         23  expand the system of classroom instruction over the

         24  next few years, there undoubtedly will remain New

         25  Yorkers with limited English skills who cannot be
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          2  accommodated in a program.  Therefore, we need to

          3  think more creatively about alternative resources

          4  for these individuals to improve their English and

          5  gain access to information resources to meet their

          6  needs.  Television represents a tremendous untapped

          7  potential in this regard.

          8                 The basic idea here is to create a

          9  T.V. show that immigrants can watch to improve their

         10  English and learn more about City services.  Right

         11  now, if you don't speak English, well, there's

         12  almost nothing on television that you can actually

         13  follow and from which you can learn useful English

         14  skills and information about the City from the

         15  perspective of a new immigrant.  I want to stress

         16  there, useful skills and key information from the

         17  perspective of new immigrants.

         18                 An entertaining and engaging series

         19  is being created to fill this gap.  In the new

         20  television program, characters will speak clearly,

         21  modeling effective communication skills in a variety

         22  of everyday situations, situations that have meaning

         23  in the lives of immigrants.  For example, we will

         24  see how immigrant New Yorkers can get involved in

         25  their child's education and overcome language
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          2  barriers and knowledge gaps to work with the teacher

          3  and the school's parent coordinator.

          4                 In another segment, the characters

          5  may be calling 311 to solve a problem or get some

          6  information.  The show will be subtitled in English

          7  to aid language acquisition and increase viewers'

          8  comprehension.  The show will be broadcast on

          9  Channel 25, the City's Emmy award winning T.V.

         10  station, starting sometime early next year.

         11                 In addition, workbooks and other

         12  instructional materials will be created to go along

         13  with the show, so that viewers can practice their

         14  reading and writing at home, or participate in small

         15  viewing and discussion groups hosted by local

         16  community- based organizations.  We will work with

         17  the Ethnic and Community Press to disseminate these

         18  materials, which could be published in newspapers in

         19  the form of a viewer's guide and to promote the show

         20  more generally.

         21                 One of the most innovative things

         22  about this show is that it will be based on the true

         23  stories of real New Yorkers.  One great thing about

         24  the adult education system is that if you are

         25  looking for amazing stories of inspiration, drama
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          2  and humor, you need only look as far as your nearest

          3  ESOL classroom.

          4                 Members of the Committee and Mr.

          5  Chairman, I look forward to working closely with you

          6  on the implementation of this television project.

          7  We need your help to make sure that immigrant New

          8  Yorkers in all five boroughs know about this show

          9  and will tune in to watch it and that community-

         10  based organizations have the opportunity to

         11  participate in the process.

         12                 In conclusion, I would like to

         13  emphasize the hopeful conditions that we have before

         14  us and the terrific opportunities we have to make

         15  systemic improvements in how we provide educational

         16  opportunities to immigrants.  As Mayor Bloomberg

         17  said, there has never been a better time than now to

         18  be involved in adult education in New York City,

         19  whether you are a student, volunteer tudor, program

         20  administrator, teacher or financial supporter, and

         21  let me add to that list an elected member of the

         22  City Council, you are making a difference in helping

         23  to create a brighter future for our City.

         24                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         25  share the Administration's perspective on these
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          2  critically important issues. I would be happy to

          3  answer any questions you may have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We have been

          5  joined by Council Member Nelson, Council Member

          6  Mark-Viverito, and I've already introduced Council

          7  Member Barron.

          8                 I have a few questions that I would

          9  like to raise with you, sir.  The first is, you

         10  mentioned about the other Departments that do free

         11  classes offered by these Departments.  Do we have a

         12  directory with all the different Departments, like

         13  the Department of Education, City University, Public

         14  Libraries, Human Resources and Administration and

         15  numerous others?  Do we have a directory that we can

         16  do referrals within our constituencies?

         17                 MR. TASSI:  We have several resources

         18  available for referrals.  The first I would mention

         19  is that we have on the City's website we have links

         20  to all of these agencies under adult education,

         21  NYC.gov/adulteducation, and all of the agencies that

         22  provide the service that are listed here in the

         23  testimony have links right there.

         24                 The second resource, perhaps more

         25  useful for the public, is that they can call 311 to
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          2  find a program in their neighborhood.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You're a new

          4  department and all that.  Would you consider

          5  creating a directory at least?

          6                 MR. TASSI:  Absolutely, Mr. Chairman,

          7  I would be happy to work with you to make sure that

          8  the formatting of that is appropriate.  We would be

          9  happy to get that.

         10                 I would like just to mention one

         11  other resource for the public.  The Literacy

         12  Assistance Center of New York City operates a

         13  literacy hotline where callers can call to get

         14  information on literacy services in their

         15  neighborhood and get some assistance from a

         16  counselor to be able to choose a program that might

         17  be most appropriate for their needs.  But I agree

         18  with the Chairman that the time has probably come

         19  for us to put together a directory that will be

         20  easier for various constituents in the process to be

         21  able to access the information they need to help

         22  people get to the classes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Your T.V.

         24  program that you mentioned, when will it be up and

         25  running?
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          2                 MR. TASSI:  We hope that it will be

          3  on the air early, 2008.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You realize the

          5  inadequate funding that we have put into here.

          6  You've mentioned it several times.  With your new

          7  Department and all that is created and although it's

          8  only a couple months now, for the coming '08 budget

          9  round, how much funding has the Administration

         10  dedicated to this ESOL for this Fiscal '08 Budget?

         11                 MR. TASSI:  Well, in planning for the

         12  office last year, the Mayor committed $5 million

         13  baseline funding to the budget that started in FY

         14   '07 and continues in FY '08 in years further. In

         15  addition to that, in this year's Executive Budget,

         16  the Mayor committed an additional $3.8 million for

         17  Fiscal Year '08 and rising to $5.3 million in City

         18  tax levy for Fiscal Year '09 and years forward.  So

         19  adding that together, the Administration's

         20  commitment starting to be articulated last year and

         21  carrying forward is for approximately $10 million in

         22  new funding.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I understand

         24  what you just said, but three percent of the folks

         25  receive some sort of help as far as English language
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          2  is concerned.  Only three percent, for having almost

          3  one- third the population needing some form of help

          4  in this respect.  Don't you think that that is

          5  inadequate?

          6                 MR. TASSI:  I agree 100 percent that

          7  is inadequate, and I would be the first to join any

          8  of the members of the Council and distinguished

          9  guests from the public in outlining the many ways in

         10  which that is inadequate to meet our current needs

         11  and to create a stable foundation and resilient

         12  foundation for the future of the City.

         13                 I think what our approach to make

         14  even more significant progress than we have made to

         15  date, is really to convene a comprehensive strategic

         16  planning process, to really vision the system that

         17  we want.

         18                 Parts of the system we don't know how

         19  well it's functioning, and we don't know even the

         20  numbers of students that are enrolled in some of the

         21  programs that are outside of the core funding for

         22  the core agencies that I mentioned.

         23                 So our process is really to take some

         24  time this summer to really understand what we're

         25  doing, how well we're meeting the needs of the
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          2  immigrants, documenting all of the strengths that I

          3  mentioned of our system and plotting out a course

          4  for the future.  It's not a future of this Fiscal

          5  Year or even next Fiscal Year, but to really bring

          6  people together, all of the stakeholders for the

          7  system, and really chart a course for the future,

          8  the longer term future.  What is it that we can do

          9  as a City to move well beyond that three percent

         10  number?  And what is it that we can do as a City to

         11  use the tool of education to move immigrants into

         12  mainstream society to open up opportunities for them

         13  and to reduce the intolerably high rates of poverty

         14  that we find in many immigrant communities.

         15                 That's our charge for the summer, and

         16  as I mentioned, it really is something that the

         17  Council needs to be at the table for and to be an

         18  active participant in, and we welcome that

         19  participation.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Two years ago

         21  we put in from the Council, almost $10 million to

         22  help immigrants.  However, last year, because of the

         23  fact that there was such a demand for English, to

         24  help with the ESOL and civics, most of that money

         25  for immigration was shifted to that area rather than
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          2  illegal immigration service.  It means then one

          3  portion of that last year is being left out to dry,

          4  as you may say.  Because now those folks who might

          5  be getting some help in learning to speak English

          6  their illegal immigration problems tend to grow

          7  because we shifted our resources and because there

          8  is such a great demand.  Don't you think we should

          9  really look at an issue like that because the

         10  funding is not enough?

         11                 MR. TASSI:  Yes, I agree that that is

         12  a key issue that needs to be addressed.  I think the

         13  Mayor has made his position on immigration issues

         14  very clear a number of times and has offered support

         15  in a number of venues to legislation that will

         16  really strengthen immigrant communities and help

         17  them meet the various needs.

         18                 I think we do have a limited budget,

         19  and people do need to make judgments about

         20  priorities, but I do think you're onto something

         21  very important that it isn't just one stand alone

         22  service.  Even as important as English, it really is

         23  a package, a comprehensive approach to dealing with

         24  these issues.  I think that's a very astute

         25  observation, yes.

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  At this time

          3  I'll call on Council Member Barron.  I think he has

          4  a question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chairman.  I have to be very, very honest with

          7  you in the presentation.  I know we should separate

          8  church from state, but the Bible does say where a

          9  man's heart is so lies his treasure.  And if $10

         10  million is where the Mayor's heart is on this issue,

         11  not only is it inadequate, it's appalling.

         12                 We have a $59 billion budget.  New

         13  York City's budget is larger than every African

         14  country's budget, larger than 48 state budgets in

         15  the United States.  We have a $4.4 billion surplus.

         16  We really think it's about 5 or 6, 7 or 8 billion,

         17  we'll find that out down the road, as we usually do

         18  every year.

         19                 We have $105 million for the Mets.

         20  We have a couple of hundred million dollars for the

         21  Nets and Ratner, for the Yankees a couple of hundred

         22  million dollars for them to play baseball in

         23  stadiums.

         24                 When it comes to people of color

         25  getting money out of this budget, yes, he's good on
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          2  the legislation and the rhetoric, but put your money

          3  where your mouth is.  This money, not only is it

          4  inadequate, it's embarrassing to come in this day

          5  and age where we, people of color, are the new

          6  majority in this town, the new majority in this town

          7  as people of color, most half the City is

          8  immigrants.  You come up with $5 million and then

          9  $10 million and sit here and tell us that $1.5

         10  million language efficiency or LEP persons, and that

         11  was in 2000, so you got to compute maybe seven years

         12  later, it might be a little higher than that, and

         13  you admit that you can only cover 61,000, a mere

         14  three percent of that, and come sit here and tell us

         15  you got $10 million?

         16                 Come on, man, you need to go back to

         17  the Mayor.  I hope you don't get fired, but, say,

         18  Mayor, you can't make me come out here and tell

         19  these people this.  They're very intelligent, and

         20  they're not going to buy this.

         21                 See, it's hard for us to sit here and

         22  take this seriously like you're really serious about

         23  doing something about this when you don't put the

         24  money where the mouth is.  I mean, come on now, I

         25  look at the budget, and I've seen things, I've seen
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          2  $20 million go places that is embarrassing, that's

          3  not as important as this.

          4                 You got to go back to the Mayor and

          5  tell him that, I don't know if I'm speaking on

          6  behalf of the Chairman, but at least one person on

          7  this Committee, this is unacceptable, it's

          8  embarrassing, and he has time, because we're still

          9  negotiating the budget, that he has to do it better.

         10    I think there should be at least $50 million, at

         11  least $50 million, and, believe me, $50 million in

         12  this town is lunch money.  It's lunch money out of a

         13  $59 billion budget.

         14                 Come on, man, if we're going to talk

         15  about this, let's get real.  We got to be really be

         16  very, very honest and forthright, so that we can

         17  really resolve this problem.  This is a serious

         18  issue because a lack, as you mentioned accurately, a

         19  lack of a real addressing of this problem leads to

         20  poverty, leads to homelessness.  It leads to people

         21  finding escapes to kill their pain.  It could lead

         22  to drugs.  It could lead to alcoholism.  It could

         23  lead to suicide.  This is serious stuff.

         24                 I mean, some of us people of color

         25  who are citizens don't get treated right, so I don't
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          2  know what you're going to do to folk who are trying

          3  to get their lives together.

          4                 So I just wanted to share that with

          5  you and say we have to do better.  We have to come

          6  up with a more stronger, not just I'm with you,

          7  we'll work together, and we'll see if we can do

          8  better on this.  I think there needs to be a very

          9  serious, strong commitment to go back to the Mayor

         10  and say that the Committee said this is appalling,

         11  and that if we really want to address this issue, we

         12  got to really increase by a large amount of money

         13  the amount of money that's allocated.  What's your

         14  thinking on that? I just want to get your thinking.

         15                 MR. TASSI:  Yes, thank you for the

         16  opportunity to share some thoughts.  I think I would

         17  like to just touch on two issues in response.  The

         18  first is in the dollars, right.  It's interesting to

         19  note that the City's adult literacy system, as a

         20  system, as opposed to individual agencies getting

         21  grants or getting funding on their own, but the

         22  first time the City made a commitment to an actual

         23  system of adult literacy was under Mayor Koch back

         24  in the day.

         25                 At that time, Mayor Koch allocated
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          2  $12.5 million for the core funding, his commitment

          3  to building an adult literacy system.  Many of the

          4  people in the room here today were there back in the

          5  80's.  They have done amazing work on that $12.5

          6  million and have leveraged much, much more money out

          7  of the state and the federal government and other

          8  programs.

          9                 But if you look in the 20 some odd

         10  years that have passed since that time, that amount

         11  of money, that core commitment, has remained

         12  unchanged.  So just to sort of put a little

         13  perspective on what may sound like a very small

         14  amount of money, that $10 million is really going on

         15  a base of 12 and a half, so I think --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Let me just

         17  catch you because I have to run to another meeting.

         18  Those kinds of comparisons, you know, like if

         19  someone was woefully inadequate ten years ago, and

         20  you say we are going to continue that woeful

         21  inadequacy, we don't feel better.  So you don't get

         22  credit for doing as well as Koch.  As matter of

         23  fact, even in the Koch years they had deficits.  It

         24  was a lot of deficit years because the economy

         25  wasn't -- we have a robust economy.  Remember the
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          2  reports? The robust economy.

          3                 The economy is doing much, much

          4  better now, and we have real, real good surpluses,

          5  so that you continued something that was woeful in

          6  the first place is not really a pat on the back.

          7  That's why I don't want you to get away from,

          8  because I heard you say it in your report, that

          9  you're doing as well as others or a little better

         10  even.  It's like if I compare myself to something

         11  that was bad and say I'm doing better, that's like

         12  when people compare Mayor Bloomberg's personality to

         13  Rudolph Giuliani's.  I mean, Jesus, like everybody

         14  looks good compared to that.

         15                 So I just think that we got to look

         16  at what can realistically be achieved now in this

         17  budget with the robust economy, with the surplus and

         18  not something that happened before that was

         19  inadequate.  So I just don't want you to get away

         20  with that kind of comparison in thinking that that

         21  makes it better for us because you're doing as bad

         22  as Koch did.  I'll leave it there.

         23                 MR. TASSI:  Let me just correct the

         24  record.  Perhaps I misspoke.  The Mayor's commitment

         25  represents a doubling of the City's commitment, a
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          2  near doubling of the City's financial commitment to

          3  adult literacy services.  The second thing I would

          4  just like to --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  How much is

          6  that doubling? Just give us the doubling is what?

          7                 MR. TASSI:  We have gone from $12.5

          8  million in previous Administrations, and we have

          9  added on another $10.3 million.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  We have $22

         11  million?

         12                 MR. TASSI:  Yes, but that's not the

         13  only funding in the system, of course.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I'm talking

         15  about the Mayor's commitment is $22 million?  That's

         16  what you're saying?

         17                 MR. TASSI:  Around that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Woefully

         19  inadequate.  See, that's the bottom line.  See, if

         20  it had to be, and I'll stop, Mr. Chairman.  I know

         21  I'm beating a dead horse.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Let him answer,

         23  and then you can follow up.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Because they

         25  come with long answers, and I'm just trying to cut
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          2  to the chase.  Sometimes I know I know that I want

          3  to respect you, but sometimes you give us these long

          4  answers.  I just want to cut to the chase.  $22

          5  million is woefully inadequate at a time where we

          6  have a $4.4 billion surplus and a $59 billion

          7  budget.  That's the only point I'm making.  If we

          8  want to seriously address this issue, the Mayor has

          9  to put his money where his money is on immigration.

         10  Mr. Chairman, I do have other commitments, so I'll

         11  stop there.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  If you have a

         13  response to that, I will give you time to respond.

         14                 MR. TASSI:  Yes, I would like to just

         15  that the Council Member really has put his finger on

         16  the heart of the issue for the field and has spoken

         17  very eloquent, as he always does to the bigger

         18  picture.  I think that your support, Council Member

         19  Barron, is critically important to the field and the

         20  strength of the field, and I know many people here

         21  today who are working in the trenches as program

         22  managers, as teachers, as the students themselves,

         23  will take heart that you are their advocate, and you

         24  are out there speaking eloquently on this issue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Well, thank
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          2  you very much, and I will continue to be their

          3  advocate and support them, but we need your support

          4  to go back to the Mayor and get more money. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 MR. TASSI:  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Sir, you spoke

          8  about baseline of $5 million.  You know, in the

          9  Council and the Administration we talk about ending

         10  budget dance and all of that, the effort of

         11  cooperation and all of those things.  We had put in

         12  $9.25 million in last year's budget.  Why wasn't

         13  that in itself added to the baseline that you're

         14  talking about?  Why wasn't that baseline for the

         15  CBO's that are doing the human's job in the

         16  districts?

         17                 MR. TASSI:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I

         18  can't actually speak to the specifics of that

         19  decision last year.  I wasn't party to it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I think it's

         21  very important because we're going to put in our

         22  request this year.  I just want you to keep in mind

         23  that I know you're making a gallant effort to really

         24  help immigrants with your new office and all of

         25  that, so with that, I want you to let the Mayor know
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          2  that we want to put in a request for at least $20

          3  million, so that we can somehow address this issue.

          4  So I want you to keep that in mind.

          5                 Specifically, how does your office

          6  coordinate with DYCD, which oversees funding for

          7  ESOL programs, that is administered through CBO's?

          8  Also, how do you coordinate with CUNY and DOE and

          9  the libraries, et cetera?  Can you give me idea

         10  because you remember your office is somewhat new,

         11  but I want to know how you're going to be really

         12  coordinating and working with those folks.

         13                 MR. TASSI:  Yes, absolutely.  Each of

         14  the agencies retains their responsibility and

         15  authority to manage their own programs, so my

         16  colleagues at DYCD continue their oversight, their

         17  technical assistance, their monitoring with the

         18  community- based organizations that they fund.

         19  Likewise, the Department of Education continues its

         20  oversight of its own program in the many locations

         21  where the classes are offered, and they continue to

         22  implement professional development programs, and so

         23  forth and so on.

         24                 What my office has attempted to do is

         25  really bring the leaders of these agencies together
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          2  on a regular basis to assess where we are, to share

          3  information about the problem areas and about the

          4  strengths and try to combine our resources for

          5  teacher training and other professional development,

          6  and to really look at ways of stretching our

          7  resources to serve more people and to serve them

          8  better.

          9                 So I've had the opportunity in the

         10  short time I've been in this position to meet with

         11  many of the students across those systems to

         12  understand their needs and their priorities and how

         13  each of our systems is serving them.  I've also had

         14  the opportunity to speak with many teachers and meet

         15  with the program managers.

         16                 Out of that process I think what we

         17  have learned is that our system has some tremendous

         18  strengths that we all need to be very proud of, and

         19  it's done really an amazing job with the resources

         20  it has, but in keeping with our larger goals for the

         21  City and for the immigrant communities, it's really

         22  time that we step back and do a more thorough

         23  planning process to really look at our resources and

         24  look at the needs, and try to put a plan together to

         25  meet those needs.  So that's really the reason and
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          2  the rationale for this planning process I alluded to

          3  earlier.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I noticed there

          5  might be some folks here from DYCD that you brought

          6  with you.  How successful have the ESOL programs

          7  funded through IOI been?  Could someone speak to

          8  that?

          9                 MR. TASSI:  Yes, I'll ask my

         10  colleague to join me here to address the specific

         11  issue of the ESOL programs under the IOI.  I think I

         12  would just add before she joins us, I would just

         13  make a preliminary comment that the programs that

         14  DYCD oversees at the community- based organizations

         15  are, on balance, very high quality programs.  They

         16  exceed the state and federal standards for

         17  educational attainment.  They serve as many students

         18  as they humanly can.  They bring to the instruction

         19  many of the other services, as we mentioned, that

         20  are not just ESOL instruction, but are help with

         21  immigration, help with housing, meeting other needs.

         22  So I think that our portfolio of community- based

         23  organizations is really doing a terrific job.  Let

         24  me turn to my colleague from DYCD to address your

         25  specific question with respect to the IOI programs.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COLTER:  Hi, my

          3  name is Cindy Colter.  I'm the Assistant

          4  Commissioner of the Community Development Unit.  You

          5  were asking about so far the success rate in IOI.

          6                 Well, as this point, as we all know,

          7  the awards were given beginning in November.  The

          8  contracts are still in the process of being

          9  registered.  At this point, 82 percent of the

         10  contracts are registered.  Despite that, I can

         11  proudly say that we have approximately, in the ESOL

         12  courses, approximately 7,000 participants registered

         13  at this time, which is lower than the planned rate

         14  because of the late issuing of awards and

         15  registration of the contracts.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, it only

         17  begs the point that if it's not baselined, it means

         18  then we have to be fighting to be put it back on the

         19  budget, back and forth.  So these CBO's will then

         20  have to wait to see if they're going to get the

         21  money and when they get it, it takes some time to

         22  really get their contracts registered and all of

         23  those things.  I want you to bear that in mind that

         24  the problems that we are having with having late

         25  registration and all of those things is because the
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          2  CBO's don't know what they're going to get.  If they

          3  had an idea of what they're going to get, they can

          4  then plan and work their program if it's a

          5  continuous.  So I want to keep that in mind.

          6                 Have you had any feedback from these

          7  program providers in terms of what the main

          8  obstacles to really implement their programs and how

          9  they can be much more focused in helping immigrants?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COLTER:  Well, I

         11  think that, as we said a minute ago, that if the

         12  awards were issued in a more timely fashion and

         13  therefore the contracts could be registered in a

         14  more efficient way, it would be much more supportive

         15  to the CBO's.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We have been

         17  joined by Council Member Darlene Mealy from

         18  Brooklyn.

         19                 Mr. Tassi, I would like to sit with

         20  you, so that at least you can play a pivotal role in

         21  making sure that this year's budget that we fight

         22  together on the same side to make sure that the

         23  funding is there, at least it's increased, to help

         24  ESOL and also the illegal portion.  Because what has

         25  been happening, as I explained earlier, is that the
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          2  major groups that were citywide that were helping,

          3  that were doing the human's job of helping

          4  immigrants in terms of their immigration problem,

          5  are not getting that kind of funding anymore.

          6                 It means then the Mayor has to play a

          7  role in making sure that some of this money gets to

          8  these folks to do what he so wisely said that needs

          9  to do, help immigrants.  So I would like to set up a

         10  meeting with you so that we can sit down and discuss

         11  how we can really help in terms of formulating an

         12  idea or a strategy to work, or go to the Mayor to

         13  get the fair share for the immigrants.

         14                 MR. TASSI:  It would be my pleasure

         15  to work with you on this.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Can you tell me

         17  what is your budget for your staff?  Because I want

         18  to make sure that you have adequate people doing,

         19  you know, if people can reach you, or what you're

         20  doing to coordinate the DYCD and CUNY and all those

         21  places. I want to make sure that is the case.

         22  You're different from the Office of Immigrant

         23  Affairs.  It's completely different, so I want to

         24  know what your budget is like, what your main role

         25  is going to be, because maybe we can coordinate

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  Office of Immigrant Affairs and your office and DYCD

          3  to make sure that all of the different nuances is

          4  taking care of as we move forward on helping

          5  immigrants, right?

          6                 MR. TASSI:  Yes, absolutely.  I'll

          7  get back to your staff with the specific numbers.

          8  Luckily, for our Administration, my office is just

          9  down the hall from Commissioner Linares, so we're in

         10  each other's offices several times a day trying to

         11  coordinate on that level, but I'll get back to you

         12  in writing with a response.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  When will the

         14  DYCD adult literacy service RFP come out, do you

         15  have any idea?  When will it come out?

         16                 MR. TASSI:  That RFP is going through

         17  just final revision and review by the Commissioner

         18  and Deputy Mayor Walcott, and we anticipate that it

         19  will be released very soon.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  When you say

         21  very soon, does very soon mean before the Fiscal

         22  Year ends, so that they can start in the new Fiscal

         23  Year?

         24                 MR. TASSI:  Let me assure you that

         25  DYCD has taken all necessary steps to extend the
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          2  current contracts to whatever date is necessary for

          3  the start date of the new RFP services, so that we

          4  won't experience any gap in services.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right,

          6  well, not only a gap in services, but we don't want

          7  to go through the same problem every year that folks

          8  are worried on whether the Fiscal Year is going to

          9  end and they didn't get to utilize the monies that

         10  they had.  We want to make sure that we don't go

         11  through that problem every year and have to seek to

         12  get extension and all of those things.  So I would

         13  hope that the RFP is out before the end of June, so

         14  that at least they can start, and those folks that

         15  may be awarded the contract, if they were doing work

         16  before, they can continue doing it, and putting

         17  things in place.

         18                 MR. TASSI:  Yes, we're working as

         19  hard as we can on that, and I think we should be

         20  able to meet that time frame, Mr. Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  I

         22  want to thank you for your testimony.  You were very

         23  informative and, again, as I said, I will be sitting

         24  down with you, so that at least we can team up to

         25  make sure that the immigrants get their fair share.
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          2                 MR. TASSI:  Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.

          4  Next we have Tara Colton, the Center for Urban

          5  Future and also Elyse Barbell Rudolph who is from

          6  Literacy Assistance Center.  If you can identify

          7  yourself, and then we get right into it.  We have a

          8  long panel.

          9                 MS. COLTON:  Good morning.  My name

         10  is Tara Colton. I'm with the Center for an Urban

         11  Future.  I just wanted to thank you for inviting me

         12  to testify today.  The Center for an Urban Future is

         13  a non- profit policy institute that studies economic

         14  development, workforce development and other issues

         15  that are important to New York City's future.

         16                 Again, I wanted to start by thanking

         17  Council Member Stewart and other members of the

         18  Immigration Committee for inviting me to testify.  I

         19  also wanted to commend the Council for its continued

         20  support of English language instruction for New

         21  York's immigrants through the landmark $9 million

         22  Immigrant Opportunities Initiative.  I also want to

         23  commend Mayor Bloomberg for establishing the Office

         24  of Adult Education and, in particular, Anthony Tassi

         25  for his commitment and forward thinking around these
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          2  issues.

          3                 Today's hearing shines a light on a

          4  critically important issue:  Are ESOL programs for

          5  New York City's immigrants keeping pace with the

          6  growing demand?  Unfortunately, across the City and

          7  state, the answer is a resounding no.  Last fall,

          8  the Center for an Urban Future and the Schuyler

          9  Center for Analysis and Advocacy released a report

         10  titled "Lost in Translation," which found that

         11  immigrants have been fueling population growth

         12  throughout the state from Brooklyn to Binghamton,

         13  but the state-run ESOL program hasn't come close to

         14  keeping pace with the demand. Our report shows that

         15  even though the state's foreign-born population has

         16  grown by nearly 1.3 million since 1990, adult ESOL

         17  programs administered through the State Department

         18  of Education added only 15,000 new seats over the

         19  same period.

         20                 This isn't a new problem, but it's

         21  gotten more serious in recent years, and New York

         22  City feels the pinch more profoundly than anywhere

         23  else in the state.  There are nearly three million

         24  foreign- born residents in the Big Apple, and the

         25  numbers continue to climb.

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 In 2005, Brooklyn was home to 728,000

          3  foreign- born adults.  59 percent of Queens adults

          4  were born outside of the U.S., and Staten Island,

          5  long the least diverse of the boroughs, gained

          6  nearly 20,000 immigrants since 2000.

          7                 Coupled with this growth in

          8  immigration, is a steady uptake in the number of New

          9  York City residents with limited or no English

         10  proficiency.  Our report found that citywide there

         11  were 1.23 million adults who spoke English less than

         12  very well in 2005, but fewer than 42,000 were

         13  enrolled in state funded ESOL programs that same

         14  year, or 3.4 percent of those who could benefit.  In

         15  other words, for every seat available, there were 33

         16  potential bodies to fill it.

         17                 To drill down a little deeper, I want

         18  to share 2005 ESOL enrollment figures for each of

         19  the boroughs.  One caveat though, enrollment figures

         20  are based on the location of the agency offering

         21  services, not the student's county of residence.

         22  For instance, if a student lived in the Bronx but

         23  took a class in Brooklyn, they would be counted in

         24  the Brooklyn total.  But enrollment figures do paint

         25  a good picture of how many students are being served
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          2  in each borough regardless of residence.

          3                 Brooklyn has the highest enrollment

          4  of any borough. Approximately 20,000 people were

          5  enrolled in state- funded ESOL, but the borough is

          6  home to 343,000 working age adults with limited

          7  English proficiency.

          8                 In the Bronx, 2,600 people were

          9  enrolled compared to 230,000 adults in need.

         10                 Manhattan had 170,000 adults with

         11  limited English skills, but served as 9,500 people.

         12                 Queens had by far the largest number

         13  of adults who didn't speak English well, about

         14  450,000, but classes in the borough enrolled just

         15  8,600 students.

         16                 Lastly, Staten Island, which has a

         17  growing immigrant population, had just 750 adults

         18  enrolled compared to the 38,000 who could benefit.

         19                 Again, I credit the Council for its

         20  work on the Immigrant Opportunities Initiative, but

         21  funding across the board is still astonishingly low.

         22  The state spent $70 million on adult ESOL last year,

         23  which served just five percent of adult New Yorkers

         24  with limited English proficiency.

         25                 Unless action is taken, the huge gap
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          2  between demand for ESOL and the services available

          3  will have serious economic and workforce development

          4  consequences.  Today's immigrants must compete in a

          5  knowledge economy, and from manufacturing to home

          6  health care, there aren't many jobs available beyond

          7  the entry level if you don't have at least some

          8  English proficiency. Language barriers also hurt

          9  businesses.  They reduce productivity and cause high

         10  turnover.  In our research, many businesses told us

         11  that ESOL is one of the most important workforce

         12  development issues they're facing.

         13                 While our report focused primarily on

         14  the changes that need to take place at the state and

         15  federal level, the City does have a major role to

         16  play in boosting the availability of ESOL for

         17  immigrant New Yorkers.  There are several things the

         18  City could do.

         19                 First, as was discussed during the

         20  first panel, funding for ESOL must be increased

         21  across the board.  As much as the City has already

         22  done, the rising number of immigrants suggests that

         23  a larger investment in ESOL is an investment in our

         24  future. Expanding City funding for the IOI and other

         25  adult literacy initiatives would be an important
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          2  start.  The current level of funding, around $9

          3  million, is just a drop in a very large bucket, and

          4  a sizeable chunk of it doesn't even go to ESOL

          5  programs.

          6                 Secondly, City officials should press

          7  for additional state and federal funding for ESOL to

          8  help shrink the enormous gap between supply and

          9  demand.  There are two state programs in need of

         10  major reforms, and the City Council and the Mayor

         11  could serve as powerful advocates for change.  The

         12  state's Adult Literacy Education or ALE program,

         13  funds ESOL, but its budget doesn't reflect the fact

         14  that more than 1.5 million new immigrants have

         15  entered the state since it was created 19 years ago.

         16                 The employment preparation education,

         17  or EPI program, which is the largest pot of state

         18  funds for ESOL, is rife with problems.  EPI funds,

         19  which are allocated by the legislature, cannot be

         20  used by libraries or community- based organizations

         21  to offer English language instruction.  And an

         22  outdated funding formula shortchanges cities that

         23  need funds the most, including New York City, which

         24  receives substantially less for each instructional

         25  hour compared to large cities upstate.  One City
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          2  education official estimates that the City loses 15

          3  to 20 cents on each EPI dollar it brings in.

          4                 Even with additional government

          5  funds, the system will be severely underfunded

          6  relative to the need.  The City's economic

          7  development agencies, especially the Department of

          8  Small Business Services, are our portal into the

          9  business community, and it's important for them to

         10  take action around these issues.  They are

         11  increasing their focus on ESOL, but there's more

         12  that can be done.

         13                 In partnership with local business

         14  groups, they should urge employers to provide

         15  funding and release time for their workers in need

         16  of English instruction.  Employers could also

         17  guarantee wage gains for workers who participate in

         18  ESOL programs, and the City and local intermediaries

         19  can also bring together small businesses that can't

         20  afford to provide services on their own.

         21                 There are huge payoffs to English

         22  language acquisition for workers, businesses and the

         23  City as a whole.  The American dream has a higher

         24  barrier of entry for today's immigrants and their

         25  predecessors, but it's not unattainable, but if we
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          2  don't increase investment in ESOL, it could have

          3  major consequences, and it's a risk this City can't

          4  afford to take.

          5                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          6  testify today.  I would be happy to answer any

          7  questions you may have.

          8                 MS. RUDOLPH:  Good morning.

          9  Councilman Barron spoke about separating church and

         10  state.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Please identify

         12  yourself before you start.  Thank you.

         13                 MS. RUDOLPH:  I apologize.  Thank

         14  you.  I'm Elyse Barbell Rudolph.  I'm the Executive

         15  Director of the Literacy Assistance Center.  We have

         16  been supporting English as a second language in

         17  literacy programs for 25 years.

         18                 I feel like Council Member Barron was

         19  talking about separating church and state in his

         20  conversation, and I just have to act like I'm

         21  preaching to the choir, so I thank you all for your

         22  passion on this issue, and it's really a pleasure to

         23  be here.

         24                 I knew that both Tara and Anthony

         25  would give a very good perspective on the sort of
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          2  bird's eye view of what's going on in the City, and

          3  we have so many passionate program managers here and

          4  learners who will talk about what goes on in the

          5  classroom.  I thought I would skip ahead a little

          6  bit and talk about what's going to happen if we

          7  don't address this issue, as Council Member Stewart

          8  said, right now in this budget today.

          9                 I recently had the opportunity to

         10  hear Deputy Mayor Doctoroff present the City's plan

         11  to re- build our infrastructure. It was a complex

         12  plan filled with talk of roads and aquifers and

         13  trains and planes and buses.  Then Joe Salvo, who's

         14  the Director of Population for the Department of

         15  City Planning, painted a picture of who will be

         16  drinking that water and riding those trains.

         17                 He explained that in the next decade

         18  alone the number of non-Hispanic whites in New York

         19  City will decline by 750,000, but our population

         20  won't drop.  They will be replaced by an equal

         21  number of immigrants of color who will come from

         22  countries with high rates of poverty and low

         23  education levels.  That means that they will have

         24  very, very little English and native language

         25  literacy when they get here.
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          2                 The 1990 census reported that 28

          3  percent of the City's residents were foreign- born.

          4  Just 10 years later, the proportion was 36 percent,

          5  2.9 million New Yorkers together. Nearly half of

          6  them, 46 percent, spoke a language other than

          7  English at home.  That's more than 1.5 million

          8  people.  We speak to mothers every day who do not

          9  speak the same language as their school aged

         10  children.

         11                 They came and continue to come from

         12  Albania, China, the Dominican Republic, Zambia,

         13  speaking more than 160 languages from all over the

         14  world.  In just 30 years a City that was primarily

         15  of European descent has become a multi- continental

         16  melting pot with no dominant race or ethnic

         17  nationality or group. What no one talked about

         18  during Doctoroff's entire presentation is the need

         19  for a social service infrastructure that will teach

         20  these immigrants English, so that they can work,

         21  acquire citizenship, navigate the health care system

         22  and support their children's education.

         23                 We've heard both Tara and Anthony

         24  Tassi say that there are about 1.5 million adults in

         25  this City who desperately need English classes.
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          2  Right now, we provide seats for 41,000.  We choose

          3  not to serve 97 percent of those need.  Do you want

          4  a clearer picture?  53 percent of all babies born in

          5  New York City are to foreign- born mothers.  43

          6  percent of the total number of immigrants in New

          7  York this morning arrived within the last 10 years.

          8  The largest foreign- born groups in the year 2000

          9  were Dominicans, Chinese, and Jamaicans.  Queens was

         10  home to the largest number and proportion of

         11  immigrants, more than one million. Brooklyn was

         12  second.  Together, these two boroughs accounted for

         13  more than two- thirds of the City's total immigrant

         14  population.

         15                 The newest New Yorker report also

         16  notes the number of immigrants arriving rose to more

         17  than 100,000 between 1990 and 2000, up from 86,000

         18  annually in the 1980's.  The growth of the City's

         19  population in the 1990's from 7.3 million to more

         20  than 8 million was entirely due to the dramatic

         21  increase in its foreign born residents, which more

         22  than compensated for a continuing outflow of native-

         23  born New Yorkers.

         24                 The City's demographic future will be

         25  shaped by today's immigration patterns.  Already,
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          2  immigrants and their U.S. born offspring make up

          3  approximately 55 percent of the City's population.

          4  Immigrants live in neighborhoods throughout the

          5  City, and many of them find homes in neighborhoods

          6  that already have large foreign- born populations.

          7  In the year 2000, Washington Heights, Flushing,

          8  Astoria, Bay Ridge, Bensonhurst and Elmhurst each

          9  had more immigrants than the entire borough of

         10  Staten Island.

         11                 New Yorkers under the age of 18 are

         12  increasingly Hispanic, 34 percent.  Black, non-

         13  Hispanic 29 percent.  Asian, 10 percent.  The

         14  proportion of white, non- Hispanics has dropped to

         15  less than one quarter in this age group.  Who's

         16  going to teach these people to speak English and to

         17  work in this City?

         18                 Immigrant households occupy nearly

         19  half of the recently built housing between 1990 and

         20  2000.  They have played a vital role in stabilizing

         21  and strengthening the housing stock in once

         22  declining neighborhoods.

         23                 Immigrants tend to be

         24  disproportionately of working age.  In 2000, 79

         25  percent of the foreign- born were between the ages
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          2  of 18 and 64 compared to just 56 percent of the

          3  native born population.  In the core working ages,

          4  25 to 54, between 40 and 50 percent of all City

          5  residents in the New York City labor force were

          6  immigrants.

          7                 Immigrants made up 43 percent of the

          8  labor force in 2000, a far greater proportion than

          9  the rest of the total population.  Immigrants are

         10  over represented in manufacturing, construction,

         11  service industries, food, health, social services,

         12  wholesale and retail trade.

         13                 As the Mayor's Office of Immigration

         14  Affairs Commissioner Linares has noted, immigrants

         15  are the workers, business owners and community

         16  builders who take our City to new heights.  It would

         17  be no exaggeration to say that the future prosperity

         18  of New York depends on our ability to assimilate

         19  immigrants and give them the knowledge and skills

         20  they need to reach their full potential as citizens,

         21  parents and workers.  The single most effective,

         22  least expensive and fastest way to accomplish this

         23  is to give our new neighbors an opportunity learn

         24  English.  We only have 41,000 funded ESOL seats in

         25  the City.  It's unconscionable.
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          2                 I would also like to say the Literacy

          3  Assistance Center does run a resource and referral

          4  hotline.  We have mailed in the past three weeks to

          5  every Council Member a directory of programs in your

          6  district, and Council Member Stewart, I can have a

          7  directory of all the programs in the City to you

          8  this afternoon. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We have been

         10  joined by Council Member Palma and Council Member

         11  Weprin.  You said you have a directory that we can?

         12                 MS. RUDOLPH:  Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         14  Could you have us --

         15                 MS. RUDOLPH:  Absolutely.  As I said,

         16  we mailed every Council Member and their district

         17  office got a listing of which ones, by zip code.

         18  You're shaking your head, you got it. And we can

         19  give you a directory of the whole City.

         20                 Also, there's a searchable online

         21  database.  Our hotline gets 15,000 calls a year.

         22  Our online locator you can go LACNYC.org, 2,500 hits

         23  a month for people looking for programs on our

         24  website.  You're welcome to make use of it, and

         25  we'll be happy to come and show you how to use it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  We

          3  spoke about the state spending about $74 million,

          4  the entire state.  Is someone, any advocators

          5  meeting with state representatives to let them know

          6  basically that $74 million for the entire state for

          7  literacy in this area is grossly inadequate?  Is

          8  there any CBO that is working on this issue with the

          9  state?

         10                 MS. RUDOLPH:  There is lobbying at

         11  all levels at the state government.  Council Member

         12  Nolan is working very hard to try to get, Assembly

         13  Member, I should say, I'm sorry, is trying to get

         14  more money into the system.  We also have, Tara was

         15  talking quite a bit about EPE, as Employment

         16  Preparation Education and although that's much

         17  better used statewide because in the City the only

         18  eligible people for EPE are the Department of

         19  Education and the Consortium for Worker Education,

         20  but that puts an additional $96 million for adult

         21  education services statewide.  We are looking to

         22  take the cap off that because that's a reimbursement

         23  program, so that the more we generate, the more the

         24  state has to pay.  Also, there are lobbying efforts

         25  underway to try and open up EPE to the other
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          2  wonderful providers in the City.

          3                 MS. COLTON:  I just wanted to clarify

          4  just so the record represents that there is $144

          5  million statewide in adult ed. Funding, but $74

          6  million is specifically for ESOL, so just to be

          7  clear that it's just for the ESOL funding, but like

          8  Elyse said, EPE is by far sort of the elephant in

          9  the room.

         10                 In New York City it's something that

         11  is problematic on a number of levels.  As Elyse

         12  alluded to, there are lot of efforts and some

         13  legislation has been proposed to change how EPE is

         14  funded and structured.  One of the challenges every

         15  year is that EPE produces a surplus, and I put that

         16  in quotes intentionally because providers are forced

         17  to cover their costs up front and are reimbursed

         18  retroactively.  So they tend to low ball what they

         19  can provide in order to sort of cover their costs,

         20  which I don't fault them for, but the result is that

         21  every year there are efforts to try and maintain EPE

         22  at the level that we have it at now, which is about

         23  $96 million because people think that well, we

         24  always send back $6 million, $8 million, what do we

         25  need to keep it at $96 million?  But the reality is
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          2  that's due to the funding structure. It's certainly

          3  not due to a scarcity of need, I think, as all the

          4  speakers have to spoken to.

          5                 MS. RUDOLPH:  And you spoke about

          6  which CBO's. There is a coalition of CBO's in New

          7  York, a Coalition for Adult Literacy.  Many of the

          8  members are represented here today.  I have Bruce

          9  sitting right by me to answer any questions you

         10  might have. I believe that you had the pleasure of

         11  attending a rally that they were able to put

         12  together to really draw attention to this issue, so

         13  we really do have, our voice is getting louder.

         14                 I did an event at which Deputy Mayor

         15  Walcott spoke, and he, at the time it was maybe two

         16  years ago, he thanked adult educators for toiling in

         17  anonymity, and he left the room, we all said, okay,

         18  no more anonymity.  We have to find our voice, and

         19  thanks to the Coalition of Adult Literacy, we've

         20  done a much better job at becoming more vocal.

         21                 MS. COLTON:  I just wanted to quickly

         22  add on one thing about Governor Spitzer, and that we

         23  are in a new Administration.  From the perspective

         24  of trying to making change around these issues, we

         25  are encouraged by his initial interest and focus on
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          2  these issues, especially through the lens of

          3  workforce development.  I think that he really

          4  understands that it's an investment in the state's

          5  workforce.  It's not social service necessarily, and

          6  that kind of perspective he is putting hopefully his

          7  money where his mouth is.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right, but

          9  let's go back to a point that was raised.  If there

         10  are currently only 41,000 ESOL seats for English

         11  language learners with so many in need, it means

         12  then the efforts of advertising and encouraging

         13  folks to take the classes when there is no space.

         14                 MS. COLTON:  Well, you know, that's a

         15  catch- 22.  A lot of programs have waiting lists.

         16  Some programs don't keep waiting lists anymore

         17  because they get so long.  We know one program in

         18  Queens that has to call the police and set up

         19  barriers in the street when they have their

         20  enrollment, and they do it by lottery.  There's no

         21  question.

         22                 Again, I appreciate that I'm

         23  preaching to the choir, but how do we get your

         24  attention except to overrun these programs and to

         25  show you that this is a desperate need?  I'm not
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          2  talking about you individually.  I'm talking about

          3  you just very well represented what the process is

          4  here.  But what do we do?  So we say because the

          5  classes are filled, we're not going to continue to

          6  make this noise?

          7                 I mean, demand drives supply.  And we

          8  have to continue to try to get as many people as we

          9  can, but what ends up happening is, we cycle them

         10  through more quickly, and so we don't necessarily do

         11  the best job that we can because we're very

         12  conscious about, you know, these programs do a

         13  wonderful job at retention and at keeping these

         14  people in the seats, but if you miss four classes in

         15  a row, there's ten people behind you who want that

         16  seat.  And people don't miss class because they're

         17  lazy.  They miss class because they have sick

         18  children.  They miss class because they worked a

         19  triple shift.  It's unbelievably unfair to them, but

         20  that's the reality of the system that we're working

         21  in when we serve three percent of the need.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         23  What are the existing issues that impede the state-

         24  run ESOL, if you know? Because I see it as a problem

         25  not only for the City, for everybody. There's lack
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          2  of funding, but what are the issues that are

          3  preventing from taking off?  Why are most other

          4  people didn't think about raising this issue before?

          5    Why is it not really a main, seeing that there's

          6  almost one- third or even more than one- third of

          7  the folks in the City is considered immigrants that

          8  need this type of help?  Why is it not an issue?

          9                 MS. COLTON:  I think there are a

         10  couple of reasons. One, I think less across the

         11  City, certainly across the state and unfortunately

         12  across the country, I think adult education has

         13  always been sort of an afterthought.  This

         14  Presidential Administration has regularly tried to

         15  make significant cuts to adult education on the

         16  federal level, and that trickles down to the state.

         17  I think that it's something that there has not been

         18  a level of leadership or commitment to across the

         19  board.  So I think that part of it is just almost

         20  indifference more than anything else.

         21                 But from an evolutionary perspective,

         22  I think that the reason it's more important now than

         23  ever and will continue to be is because our economy

         24  is changing, and the need for ESOL is more paramount

         25  than ever, but I think that is something that
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          2  providers know and students certainly know, but

          3  political leaders and employers are just starting to

          4  understand.

          5                 I always use the example when I talk

          6  about this of my great grandfather who came to New

          7  York from Sicily, got a job as a brick layer, spoke

          8  very, very little English, was able to advance,

          9  became a foreman, became a supervisor.  He couldn't

         10  do that if he came here now.  He could maybe get the

         11  entry level job, but he couldn't advance.  So the

         12  importance of English has economic pay offs where it

         13  didn't before, and I think that it takes time for

         14  people to come to understand that.

         15                 MS. RUDOLPH:  I want to add something

         16  to that that really allowed Tara to be able to write

         17  the brilliant report that she did.

         18                 The federal government, with this new

         19  Administration, upped our data requirement 100 fold.

         20    I think five years under an Administration that

         21  wasn't favorable to this kind of work, we had no

         22  proof at how effective these programs are and what

         23  the impact on individual families was as a result of

         24  this work.               All of the people in this

         25  room with unfunded mandates and an incredible data
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          2  burden, got their act together and managed to figure

          3  out how to articulate how good they were at helping

          4  people move from one place to another, and we have

          5  not just anecdotal evidence, but hard data evidence.

          6

          7                 As a matter of fact, nationwide, the

          8  adult education community has so banded together to

          9  articulate better, that we got something called a

         10  part review from the federal government that was

         11  unsatisfactory that caused a threat of a $536

         12  million cut in the federal budget.  Advocates all

         13  over the country came together and forced the

         14  federal government to re- assess that part review,

         15  and now we have a very, very high rating and none of

         16  our money was cut, and we're looking for an increase

         17  from $535 to $750 million nationally.

         18                 That's because program managers like

         19  this with not one dime more, and not serving one

         20  person less, spend an incredible amount of time

         21  measuring impact in a scientific way, so that we can

         22  make reports and show that we're effective.  Now we

         23  can prove it, so I think that's empowered us to go

         24  forward and to say, wait a minute, I'm going to show

         25  you that this works.  And the federal government is
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          2  hearing it, and I think that City and state

          3  governments all across the country can't ignore it

          4  anymore.  You asked for research- based practice.

          5  We're giving it to you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I understand

          7  Council Member Mark- Viverito has a question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Just

          9  for clarification, thank you, Mr. Chair.  Ms.

         10  Colton, in your testimony, you give us the

         11  enrollment figures.  Obviously, there's a big

         12  discrepancies in each of the boroughs, but is that

         13  number, and I understand obviously the need is

         14  greater than what we are providing in terms of

         15  funding, but are those figures low because of that?

         16  Because the funding is not available to provide more

         17  classes, or is it because maybe there needs to be

         18  more outreach? In terms of the numbers of the

         19  enrollment per borough, I just wanted to get clarity

         20  on that.

         21                 MS. COLTON:  I think there's sort of

         22  a chicken and egg issue there in a way.  What Elyse

         23  referred to of putting up barriers in the street, we

         24  hear that across the City, across the state.  I've

         25  heard stories about providers who during blizzards
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          2  they've had people lined up around the corner.  So I

          3  think that the enrollment figures vary partially

          4  because of the concentration of programs, but I

          5  certainly don't think it's lack of outreach.  I

          6  mean, there can always be more outreach, and I think

          7  that there's new, burgeoning ethnic communities

          8  around the City that may not be coming to the

          9  providers, they're already so overwhelmed and doing

         10  so much with so little, that I don't think it's an

         11  outreach issue. I think it's really just if you

         12  doubled the funding, tomorrow there would be double

         13  the people in those classes.

         14                 MS. RUDOLPH:  It's a capacity issue.

         15  The programs that perform, whose data reflects the

         16  highest level of performance, get the money.  On the

         17  one hand, that's great because you want high

         18  performing programs to get funded.  On the other

         19  hand, that leaves us in a situation like so many

         20  other social services where the immigrant groups

         21  that are the most desperately in need and progress

         22  the slowest because of no native language literacy,

         23  because of pervasive poverty, because of health

         24  issues and barriers to coming to class, can't show

         25  those kind of results and don't get any money. So
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          2  it's not like we're not going into the poorest

          3  neighborhoods or the neighborhoods where the demand

          4  is the highest, we can't stretch the money far

          5  enough into those neighborhoods to serve those

          6  people.

          7                 MS. COLTON:  One of the challenges on

          8  the City level, and this is across the board really

          9  is sort what of Elyse mentioned this creaming issue,

         10  that because providers have so many outcomes that

         11  they have to show, they have an incentive to work

         12  with the easiest to serve students, the students who

         13  are at the higher levels of literacy, who come here

         14  maybe with an education, a bachelor's degree from

         15  their home country.  So there's a disincentive to

         16  work with the hardest to serve, who arguably are the

         17  folks who need the most.  The difference for them

         18  going from a second grade reading level to a fourth

         19  grade reading level could mean being able to speak

         20  to their child's teachers.

         21                 MS. RUDOLPH:  And getting into LPN

         22  program.

         23                 MS. COLTON:  Right.  Or going to the

         24  doctor and understanding what they're saying, but

         25  the providers are really struggling with that.  I
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          2  think that it's something that is going to continue

          3  to persist unless there's some changes made around

          4  it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Thank

          6  you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  It's important

          8  that we focus on the fact that the funding that we

          9  are getting now is so low compared to our budget, as

         10  Council Member Barron so ably articulated earlier.

         11                 I think we should really start some

         12  sort of a program where we do some sort of letter

         13  writing or something to make this come to the focus

         14  of all those powers to be to understand that they

         15  need to do more.  I would suggest that the state do

         16  more also.

         17                 MS. COLTON:  I think the IOI's we've

         18  discussed is a great start.  You know, I was

         19  thrilled to hear that you were talking about raising

         20  it to $20 million.  I'd love to see it raised to

         21  $100 million.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yes, but --

         23                 MS. COLTON:  I'm just saying that if

         24  you quintupled the amount of funding that's

         25  available, you'd still be only addressing a fraction
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          2  of the problem.  There are some efforts underway,

          3  both at the City and state level, to increase adult

          4  literacy funding, and I would really encourage any

          5  Council Members who are interested in that to learn

          6  more about them, and certainly sign on.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, I am

          8  going to be talking to my colleagues to make sure

          9  that they understand the gravity of this problem.

         10                 MS. RUDOLPH:  We'll help you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Serving three

         12  percent of the people in need is so --

         13                 MS. RUDOLPH:  It's unconscionable in

         14  a city of immigrants.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yes, it sounds

         16  like where were we?

         17                 MS. COLTON:  If it would be at all

         18  helpful to you or your staff, I'm happy to help you

         19  with defining the need in specific councilmanic

         20  districts, that data is available.  So if it would

         21  be helpful to look at the immigrant populations in

         22  those communities.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right,

         24  thank you.  Any other questions?

         25                 MS. RUDOLPH:  That's Phyllis Berman.
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          2  I just want to recognize her.  She's the best letter

          3  writing campaigner in town, and she has so flooded

          4  Hillary Clinton's office that they call and beg her

          5  to stop when we were in our federal push for cuts,

          6  so we are very capable of doing that, if you leave a

          7  charge, we make sure that those letters flow like

          8  water.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  The last

         10  question I have for you, how have businesses in New

         11  York City been impacted by the increasing need for

         12  ESOL among the labor force?

         13                 MS. COLTON:  They've been hugely

         14  impacted, hugely. I mean, I've talked to businesses

         15  across the boroughs, across sectors.  They say this

         16  is, in some cases, the most pressing issue their

         17  business faces.  In some cases, the employees who

         18  work for them are immigrants, skilled immigrants,

         19  come here with the skills from their home countries,

         20  but they don't have the English proficiency to be

         21  able to interface with their supervisors to use the

         22  database, to work with customers in a level of

         23  computerization that our economy is moving towards.

         24  Unless these workers get some skills, they aren't

         25  able to advance.  We're looking demographically at a
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          2  number of the baby boom generation aging out of

          3  these jobs, so there's going to be a real dearth of

          4  mid level, high level managers.              Immigrants

          5  are in on the ground floor, but it's hard for them

          6  to move up the career ladder, so for businesses, it

          7  impacts them in terms of high turnover.  It also

          8  impacts productivity.  If you imagine a business

          9  manufacturer having to explain a safety rule, and it

         10  taking two hours because they have seven employees

         11  who speak seven languages, those are two hours those

         12  seven employees are off the line.  So in dollars and

         13  cents it makes a real impact.

         14                 MS. RUDOLPH:  I just also want to say

         15  that we've had occasion, just to make it more

         16  specific, we work very closely with the Health and

         17  Hospitals Corporation.  We've been talking to the

         18  hiring manager for all of the Marriotts in the City,

         19  which is the hospitality industry.  We've spoken

         20  with the head of personnel for Chelsea Piers.

         21                 You know, these are industries that

         22  we've traditionally found welcoming to new immigrant

         23  populations and to people with limited skills.  They

         24  are crying.  They are showing up at workforce

         25  investment board meetings.  They are calling, they
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          2  are trying to work with these job developers, and

          3  these relationships are very, very strained because

          4  we are not able to put workers into these job sites,

          5  so that they can get the tax credits that are

          6  available to them who are skilled enough to even

          7  make it with all the subsidiaries that are

          8  available.

          9                 MS. COLTON:  Just one last thing.

         10  We've been talking about the lack of funding, and I

         11  alluded to this in my testimony, but employers are a

         12  source of funding.  There's been significant

         13  interest in the employer community for partnering

         14  with the City and putting out their own funds.  If

         15  you can convince an employer that they're going to

         16  get a return on their investment, they've shown that

         17  they will invest in training of their workers, and

         18  that applies to ESOL, so there's a major untapped

         19  opportunity there to get some hard money from the

         20  business community who employ immigrants.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Is there any

         22  information about tax credit given to businesses who

         23  have folks, or encourage, or who help folks?

         24                 MS. COLTON:  Sure.  There are some

         25  programs, and the Department of Small Business
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          2  Services has started running some programs recently

          3  that provide ESOL services and have a training

          4  component to them.

          5                 MS. RUDOLPH:  And they give mini

          6  grants as well. They literally give money for the

          7  salaries to get this hiring done.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  I

          9  want to thank you.  You have been very informative.

         10  You've really shed some light on what is happening

         11  here.  I hope that my colleagues will take it to my

         12  other colleagues to let them know how important this

         13  issue is, and that we will be asking for $20 million

         14  in the new budget round, so that at least we can

         15  make a significant dent in the adult literacy in the

         16  ESOL programs.

         17                 MS. RUDOLPH:  Excellent, and we're

         18  very grateful. Tara and I both have connections to

         19  just everybody in town anyway. We can help you,

         20  support you, write letters, show up where you need

         21  to.  You just call and we will make it happen.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.

         23                 MS. RUDOLPH:  Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Our next panel

         25  we call on Anthony Ng, United Neighborhood Housing,
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          2  Elana Broitman, UJA Federation, Jose Davila, New

          3  York Immigration Coalition and Bernice Arriaga and

          4  Adriana Villegas, Make the Road by Walking.  I hope

          5  you can sit there and give us your testimony.  We

          6  have a long list, so let's see if we can -- What we

          7  do is basically identify ourselves, and then we can

          8  get right into it, all right?

          9                 MS. BROITMAN:  Thank you, Chairman

         10  Stewart and Council Members for holding this very

         11  important hearing and inviting us to speak today.  I

         12  represent UJA Federation of New York, which helps to

         13  serve a broad spectrum of New Yorkers throughout the

         14  five boroughs by supporting a network of over 100

         15  social service agencies.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  And you are?

         17                 MS. BROITMAN:  I'm sorry.  Elana

         18  Broitman, UJA Federation.  A number of our agencies

         19  do, in fact, provide ESOL services, a number of them

         20  thanks to the Council's funding, so we appreciate

         21  that.  I also want to note that a couple of our

         22  agencies who were here earlier, but were not able to

         23  remain to wait for oral testimony, did submit their

         24  testimony, so you're going to have testimony from

         25  COJO as well as Kings Bay Y.
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          2                 Three of us on the panel are umbrella

          3  groups.  As you know, UJ, U & H and the New York

          4  Immigration Coalition, and we're sort of sharing the

          5  testimony, so you don't have to hear from each of us

          6  on the same topic.  I know that my colleagues will

          7  speak to some of the issues that you see in all of

          8  our testimony.  We thought that I could start by

          9  talking a little bit about the demand that we see

         10  out there.

         11                 We, of course, represent community-

         12  based organizations that provide ESOL services in

         13  the context of a much larger service delivery where

         14  they're serving immigrants with work assistance,

         15  with citizenship assistance, legal services, a

         16  number of things that a new immigrant needs in

         17  accessing and becoming part of New York's economy

         18  and society.  That's part of what makes CBO's so

         19  valuable in the entire context of the literacy

         20  arena, which includes valuable partners, of course,

         21  from CUNY and the libraries.

         22                 The other thing that's unique to

         23  CBO's is they're much more spread out throughout the

         24  City, so they can really serve specific

         25  neighborhoods and cater their classes to the
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          2  communities that are coming through their door.

          3                 They're also offering a different

          4  kind of setting, so for students who may not be

          5  comfortable in a more academic setting, they are

          6  coming into a community organization where they're

          7  already getting other benefits where they're more

          8  comfortable, where there are evening classes or

          9  other times that are offered that will cater to

         10  their schedules, so sort of a little piece about

         11  community groups.

         12                 In terms of the demand, you just

         13  heard testimony from other colleagues that obviously

         14  provided an incredible overview.  Just to give you

         15  the flavor of what some of our groups are seeing,

         16  just a little show and tell.

         17                 This is 600 names on a waiting list

         18  in just the last two months from an organization

         19  that the three of us share actually in Brooklyn, in

         20  Council Member Nelson's district.  These are people

         21  who are never going to be able to get to a class, at

         22  least in this particular organization because it's

         23  filled up.  I also handed in testimony from another

         24  organization in Bensonhurst, another one of our

         25  organizations.  Just to read a little bit from their
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          2  testimony. They serve students from a variety of

          3  countries, from the former Soviet Union, China,

          4  Albania, Pakistan, Turkey, Italy, Bolivia,

          5  Afghanistan, Poland, Venezuela, just to read off a

          6  few of the names.  A number of their clients have

          7  multiple problems and needs such as unfamiliarity

          8  with the new culture and bureaucracy, raising

          9  children as single parents and supporting and

         10  helping their school aged children in the school

         11  system that is foreign to them, and then they don't

         12  speak the language to add to that problem.

         13                 So the JCH, like many other

         14  organizations, combine intensive language classes

         15  with vocational counseling, case management,

         16  removing barriers to self sufficiency and helping

         17  clients to achieve employment, reduce dependence on

         18  public assistance, achieve citizenship, voting

         19  skills and many more things.

         20                 The average waiting list for this

         21  organization is 150 people.  They don't advertise

         22  because if they did, the influx would be so

         23  enormous, they wouldn't even be able to handle that

         24  intake.  In some periods of the year, the list is so

         25  long that prospective students wait two to four
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          2  months to get to the classes. They offer eight

          3  classes serving 180 clients at a time.

          4                 Let me talk about a couple of other

          5  groups that are members of United Neighborhood

          6  Houses.  One UNH member in Queens, for example,

          7  serves about 2,700 people annually in five different

          8  English proficiency levels, yet they're still forced

          9  to turn away almost 1,000 people each year because

         10  they don't have enough funding for more classes.

         11  It's common to hear ESOL programs holding lotteries

         12  to accept students, discontinuing waiting lists

         13  because the number of students who desire a class is

         14  so great that they're never going to get through it,

         15  and refraining from doing any kind of outreach

         16  because programs don't want to be overwhelmed with

         17  students who can't get into classes that quickly

         18  fill up.

         19                 We just thought we'd add a little bit

         20  of the human dimension to the numbers that you're

         21  hearing.  I'll pass this along to my colleagues.

         22                 MR. NG:  Good morning.  My name is

         23  Anthony Ng, and I am in the Senior Legislative

         24  Advocate at United Neighborhood Houses of New York.

         25  Thank you, Chairman Stewart, for holding this
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          2  hearing, and good to see you, Council Member Palma,

          3  Council Member Mark- Viverito, as well.

          4                 United Neighborhood Houses, as you

          5  know, we're the federation of settlement houses and

          6  community centers.  We have 35 member agencies

          7  across the City.  Our agencies are multi- service,

          8  community- based organizations, provide various

          9  types of human services, and ESOL programs and

         10  literacy programs are a key element of those

         11  services.  Almost two- thirds of our members provide

         12  literacy programs, and our members also have a rich

         13  history of serving immigrants and are in the some of

         14  the City's major immigrant communities today.

         15                 As Elana had laid out, on the ground

         16  there is such a demand, and CBO's, community- based

         17  organizations, have had to figure out how to handle

         18  that demand.  They've had to resort to certain

         19  strategies that have been discussed so far like

         20  holding lotteries or discontinuing waiting list use.

         21                 I think we also heard  a lot about

         22  the data that backs up the huge demand, and we also

         23  heard a lot about the need for improved English

         24  proficiency to be a workforce development strategy.

         25  We need to make sure that the future of New York has
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          2  a prepared workforce, and ESOL programs and we're

          3  working with the Coalition for Adult Literacy.

          4  We're urging for a big increase in adult literacy

          5  funding across all sectors in this prior year.  In

          6  particular, we were talking about an increase in $20

          7  million to the literacy programs operated by the

          8  DYCD, the Department of Youth and Community

          9  Development.

         10                 We were pleased to see that the Mayor

         11  did put some money in his Executive Budget last

         12  week.  We saw an increase of about $3.8 million,

         13  which will rise to 5.3 in Fiscal Year '09. These

         14  dollars will be added to an RFP that we anticipate

         15  coming out shortly from DYCD, as they testified

         16  earlier today.  That should be about $7.4 million

         17  for community- based organizations literacy

         18  programs.

         19                 Now, of course, we know that this is

         20  a good start, but we still need much more, which is

         21  why we are advocating for such a high increase this

         22  year.  Again, we also recognize that literacy

         23  programs at CUNY and the libraries need increases as

         24  well, because we recognize in a city as big as ours,

         25  you need to have a variety of programs in diverse
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          2  settings and across the City to meet the need.  So

          3  we need increases across all these sectors.

          4                 Towards this end, we were happy to

          5  see the Mayor put some dollars in.  We hope it's the

          6  beginning of some more dollars from him.

          7                 We also understand that Council

          8  Member Gonzalez is carrying an initiative this

          9  budget season for $4 million to add to the DYCD RFP,

         10  so we support that.  We urge all of you as members

         11  of the Immigration Committee to sign on to that, and

         12  we urge the Council to work hard with the Mayor to

         13  make sure that that's in the adopted budget.

         14                 If these dollars are added, they will

         15  go into the RFP, which would be great.  That would

         16  make this money multi- year funding, stabilize it,

         17  and this is the type of investment that we need.  So

         18  we all look forward to working with you on

         19  supporting that budget initiative in the coming

         20  weeks.  Thank you.

         21                 MR. DAVILA:  Good afternoon, Chairman

         22  Stewart and Members of the Immigration Committee.

         23  My name is Jose Davila, and I'm Director Education

         24  Advocacy for the New York Immigration Coalition,

         25  which is an umbrella organization for over 200
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          2  organizations throughout the state who work with

          3  immigrants and newcomers to this country.

          4                 I have the opportunity today to speak

          5  about the Immigrant Opportunities Initiative and

          6  what that means for immigrants and ESOL and where we

          7  feel there can be increasing investments and reforms

          8  made to IOI to ultimately improve immigrant services

          9  in the City.

         10                 I want to say that we released a

         11  report a few years back in '01 that showed that only

         12  about five percent of the need was being met.  The

         13  report was called Eager for English, and it showed

         14  that about one in 20 of all immigrants were actually

         15  able to access publicly funded English classes, so

         16  there's a huge unmet need, as others have stated.

         17                 I want to start by thanking the

         18  Council for their leadership on the Immigrant

         19  Opportunities Initiative.  You all have really been

         20  the champions on this issue, and, as you are aware,

         21  it's funded currently this Fiscal Year at $9.25

         22  million.  It serves over 140 community- based

         23  organizations and immigrant groups to provide not

         24  only English classes, but also immigration and

         25  immigrant worker legal services.  This is really one
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          2  of the primary and significant amounts of funding

          3  that the City spends on a City that's basically 40

          4  percent immigrants and two- third immigrants and

          5  their children.

          6                 We, unfortunately, want to point out

          7  again this year that the Mayor has failed to put it

          8  in his Executive or Preliminary Budgets, and it's

          9  now left to the Council again to restore this

         10  funding.  We're here potentially to urge the Council

         11  to not only restore the $9.25 million, but we also

         12  want to urge the Council to work with the Mayor to

         13  baseline this funding, to make it permanent,

         14  hopefully to roll out some sort of multi- year RFP

         15  down the road, so that groups don't have to fight

         16  each year to get this funding, but that's really

         17  made permanent.

         18                 Just to point out, Speaker Quinn was

         19  at a meeting at the Immigration Coalition with our

         20  Board of Directors, both organizations, UNJ and U&H

         21  and Make the Road by Walking are represented on our

         22  Board.  The Speaker at that meeting committed to

         23  working with us and with the Mayor to ultimately

         24  baselining IOI. Whether that means this year or next

         25  year, remains to be seen, but I think the Speaker
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          2  honestly shared with us that she feels bad that

          3  every year it's the same kind of budget dance, and

          4  she'd like to make it a permanent part of the

          5  budget.  So I did want to point that out.

          6            I do also want to urge support for City

          7  Council efforts, led with Chairman Stewart and

          8  others, to find increased resources and have

          9  initiatives to support increased resources for IOI

         10  that would do a few things.  Hopefully, increase the

         11  individual grant size to each IOI recipient group

         12  from 25 to hopefully at least $50,000.

         13                 Secondly, hopefully more funds will

         14  be able to serve more qualified groups that are out

         15  there that either used to be funded or have never

         16  really been able to access this funding. There are

         17  so many.  We have 200 members.  There are so many

         18  organizations out there that could use this support

         19  to be able to provide new services.

         20                 We also support efforts to create a

         21  separate initiative or something that really looks

         22  at citywide and boroughwide legal service providers.

         23  That's part of the whole IOI piece, not really under

         24  the jurisdiction of this hearing, I guess, but I

         25  wanted to point that out as well that we support
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          2  that.

          3                 Ultimately, like I said, we do want

          4  to see it baselined.  We want to see multi- year

          5  grants, so groups don't have to go year to year

          6  fighting for it.  We really hope that this becomes a

          7  permanent part of the budget, so that the Council

          8  can then focus on other important immigrant service

          9  needs.

         10                 My last comment really is on the

         11  broader piece.  We certainly support Councilwoman

         12  Gonzalez's efforts to add $4 million to the adult

         13  literacy funding.  We do want to set up the Mayor's

         14  funding.  While it's not $20 million, the $3.8 and

         15  $5.3 million in the two Fiscal Years is really what

         16  we consider a good faith effort and a good down

         17  payment and really moving in the direction of really

         18  beginning to meet the needs of millions of adult

         19  learners in the City.

         20                 The last thing, just from an

         21  immigration perspective, we're in a year where we

         22  could potentially, I say could, could potentially

         23  see a comprehensive immigration reform. What does

         24  that mean for New York City?  It means that hundreds

         25  of thousands of immigrants are going to be getting
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          2  in line to get green cards, to get citizenship, and

          3  we need to have a really strong community

          4  infrastructure to be able to meet those needs. We're

          5  hoping to get federal funds to help with English

          6  classes and legal services, but in the meantime,

          7  there needs to be a stronger infrastructure in the

          8  community level to be able to meet this need, so

          9  we're hoping to work with the Council and the Mayor

         10  to make sure that happens.  Thank you.

         11                 MS. ARRIAGA:  Good afternoon,

         12  everyone.  My name is Bernice Arriaga.  I am from

         13  Mexico.  I understand English in Make the Road by

         14  Walking.  We are here for say to you please support

         15  adult education.  We want to be one of your

         16  citizens.  We want to be able to contribute to the

         17  wealth of this great country.  We need more programs

         18  for adult education.  Most of all, we need to master

         19  the English language, so that we can live in decent

         20  houses.  We want to support our families and commit,

         21  but we would like to take care of our family is sick

         22  because we are immigrants.  We have the need, and we

         23  know the importance to learn English in this

         24  country. Without more classes, we are not going to

         25  have opportunities to improve our education.  Please
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          2  help and give money to more classes in the City.

          3  Too many people are waiting for classes.  You can

          4  make a difference.  Thanks.

          5                 MS. VILLEGAS:  Good afternoon.  My

          6  name is Adriana Villegas, and I'm an ESL teacher at

          7  Make the Road by Walking.  I came to the United

          8  States six years ago from Columbia.  When I arrived,

          9  I didn't speak a word of English.  Luckily, I saw a

         10  sign offering free English classes at a local

         11  library.  Two years ago, I started teaching Spanish

         12  language literacy classes at Make the Road by

         13  Walking.  This year, I started teaching ESL classes

         14  as well.

         15                 Every cycle when we register

         16  students, I am amazed by how many people are

         17  desperate to learn English.  My students are

         18  incredibly grateful for the opportunity to learn

         19  English.  I see their confidence grow as they begin

         20  to master a new language. Unfortunately, at any

         21  given time we have a waiting list of over 100 people

         22  for classes.  25 percent of all New Yorkers do not

         23  speak English well.  50 percent of New Yorkers speak

         24  a language other than English at the home.

         25                 In order to change this and to make
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          2  sure that all New Yorkers can speak to each other,

          3  it is essential for the City Council to invest more

          4  money in ESL classes in other locations.  In terms

          5  of expanding opportunity, there is no better

          6  investment than education.  Over the long haul,

          7  students' increased tax payments far outweigh what

          8  the classes cost to the City.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Elana, do you

         10  have any idea what the estimated costs per student

         11  for classes for any one of these classes?

         12                 MR. DAVILA:  There's a range.

         13  There's a wide range, and I'm sure there will be

         14  other people testifying today who can talk more

         15  about that, but I think the goal of a lot of

         16  literacy programs is to provide services in a

         17  comprehensive manner, meaning not only are you

         18  having adequate funding to provide the instruction

         19  that's needed to pay the teachers, but also a lot of

         20  times the students that come to the classes may need

         21  other types of supportive services that can help

         22  them stay in classes.

         23                 As we heard earlier today, a lot of

         24  times students who come to literacy programs or ESOL

         25  programs, may have other things that need to attend
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          2  to in their lives.  It runs the gambit from housing

          3  emergencies, child care emergencies, what have you.

          4  Because they're trying to improve their

          5  socioeconomic opportunities there, so a lot of times

          6  if they don't show up at classes, it's not because

          7  they don't want to be there, but they have other

          8  things that they have to attend to. So I think a lot

          9  of literacy programs strive to be comprehensive in

         10  that sense.

         11                 So you're looking at the program

         12  cost, not just the cost of the instruction, but the

         13  overall program cost that leads to students

         14  improving their English skills.  So there's a range

         15  of that figure.  My understanding is also you can

         16  look at it by cost per participant, an instructional

         17  hour rate, a contact hour rate. There's a lot of

         18  variety.

         19                 MS. BROITMAN:  I think at minimum

         20  it's about $800, at minimum.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want to

         22  switch a little bit. Considering the pending

         23  comprehensive immigration bill that is pending right

         24  now, and knowing that within that bill there's a

         25  provision for English proficiency, what do you
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          2  foresee as our major role in terms of combating the

          3  rush to learn English if and when that passes?  How

          4  do you see us preparing ourselves to do that? And

          5  how can we do that?

          6                 MR. DAVILA:  I think we certainly,

          7  along with many of our national partners and other

          8  state immigration coalitions of different states,

          9  are pushing not just for fixing the broken

         10  immigration system, we want to make sure that there

         11  are resources to back that up.  Whether it's slowing

         12  the backlog in becoming a citizen, but also really

         13  it's about helping immigrants integrate.           So

         14  you can't talk about comprehensive immigrant issue

         15  reform without having a way to help local

         16  communities integrate these residents.  So what

         17  we're saying is that we want federal resources and

         18  from the state as well.  I spend a lot of my time up

         19  in Albany as well trying to get more resources.  We

         20  all do to really help the City to be able to be this

         21  kind of work, but the City also has a role in

         22  helping to lay the foundation, and it's done that in

         23  many ways in the past several years since 2001 with

         24  the Immigrant Opportunities Initiative.

         25                 What we're seeing is that, and I
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          2  think we all understand is that the need is really

          3  not being met, and so how do we use the model of IOI

          4  to increase resources, get more groups and providers

          5  in the fray, and help him be ready to offer these

          6  classes and legal service clinics and other services

          7  to help potentially hundreds of thousands of New

          8  Yorkers get in line, whatever the process is, paying

          9  fines, learning English, whatever the issue is, to

         10  ultimately get a green card and become a citizen.

         11  So the City does have a role, and I think that IOI

         12  and the services that these groups provide is a

         13  great model.  How do we really get ready for this

         14  big influx of huge need?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So what you're

         16  saying is that you are optimistic that the federal

         17  government will put resources into making it, to

         18  assist?

         19                 MR. DAVILA:  I wouldn't say that I'm

         20  optimistic about getting immigration reform period.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  No, no.

         22                 MR. DAVILA:  We've been getting

         23  resources.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Resources from

         25  the federal government if and when this immigration
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          2  bill is passed.

          3                 MR. DAVILA:  I think it's a lift.  I

          4  wouldn't say I'm optimistic.  I think it's a strong

          5  possibility, but I think we want to make sure that

          6  whatever happens that there are resources from the

          7  federal government to do that.

          8                 MS. BROITMAN:  If I may add, as Jose

          9  has said, we don't know what's going to happen at

         10  the federal level, whether new legislation is going

         11  to pass.  But whether or not it passes, just the

         12  debate over the past several years has really

         13  ignited concerns in the immigrant community.

         14                 Prior to that, we saw that with the

         15  constant concern that senior citizens would lose

         16  their Social Security benefits if they didn't reach

         17  citizenship.  With all of the debating around that,

         18  especially the way the press reports it, makes

         19  people come to the organizations and seek classes

         20  and seek legal services.  So no matter what, the

         21  demand is there, and the funding isn't there to

         22  support it.

         23                 MR. NG:  I would like just to add

         24  that in addition to, you need funding to operate the

         25  programs, just deliver the services.  There's also
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          2  probably going to need to be some space concerns.

          3  Are we going to have enough spaces to house these

          4  programs?  That's something that I think the City

          5  can start thinking and planning about as well,

          6  especially from the perspective of community- based

          7  organizations.

          8                 Again, part like I was discussing

          9  before, the overall program cost.  We know some of

         10  our providers they have to pay rent because they

         11  have to rent office space to provide programs, and

         12  there's other capital needs in terms of computers

         13  and other things that help the instruction here.

         14                 So I think if there is an immigration

         15  reform bill passed that we like, we hope that it

         16  will include dollars to back up any requirements to

         17  learn more English.  As Jose mentioned, there are

         18  advocates across the country really pressing hard

         19  for that, and we hope to see that if we get the

         20  immigration reform he wants.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  I

         22  want to thank you guys for your testimony.  Is there

         23  any questions from Council Member Palma?  No

         24  questions.  Thank you.  We will follow up on some of

         25  these issues.
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          2                 Our next panel we have Francis

          3  Kreimer from New Immigrant Community Empowerment.

          4  We have Virginia Brobyn from African Services

          5  Committee.  We have Luza Rojas, Latin American

          6  Integration Center.  We have Shana Brodnax and Jude

          7  Pierre from CAMBA.

          8                 We have two more panels, so we try to

          9  move it as quickly as possible.  If you can what we

         10  call precis your testimony because we have heard

         11  quite a bit of it already, so try and precis it as

         12  much as possible.  Thank you.  You may first

         13  identify yourself and begin.

         14                 MS. BRODNAX:  Good afternoon.  My

         15  name is Shana Brodnax, and I am the Director of

         16  Employment and Training Services at Catholic

         17  Charities of the Archdiocese of New York, which

         18  covers Manhattan, the Bronx, Staten Island and seven

         19  counties over the lower Hudson Valley.

         20                 We've served thousands of English

         21  language learners each year since 1921, so this is

         22  an issue very close to our hearts, and I want to

         23  thank the Committee for sponsoring this hearing

         24  today on the demand for English for Speakers of

         25  Other Languages programs, or ESOL.
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          2                 As a couple of people have already

          3  mentioned, it's a subject of increased importance,

          4  as proposed legislation on immigration reform will

          5  require English as a pre- condition to enrolling on

          6  the path to citizenship.

          7                 Each year, Catholic Charities assists

          8  more than 100,000 individuals through our various

          9  programs, employment and training services,

         10  immigration legal services, case management,

         11  eviction prevention, emergency food.  Throughout all

         12  of these programs, we encounter thousands of English

         13  language learners who deeply want to learn English

         14  to improve their job prospects, communicate with

         15  their children's teachers, participate in civil

         16  society and begin touch with the English speaking

         17  world all around them, issues that many other

         18  speakers have already mentioned.

         19                 My Department's Refugee Resettlement

         20  Office, in particular, serves nearly 500 refugees

         21  and asylees yearly who hail from over 40 countries.

         22  Asylees and refugees are exceptionally vulnerable,

         23  having escaped their countries fleeing persecution,

         24  and they come to us with extensive needs.

         25                 We assist them with every possible
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          2  aspect of resettlement in the United States, from

          3  learning to use an ATM, to writing a resume in order

          4  to attain employment.

          5                 The most important factor that

          6  contributes to success we find is a client's level

          7  of English.  We have been highly successful in

          8  utilizing very scarce resources to support English

          9  language learners in our refugee programs.  However,

         10  there are many more immigrants, refugees and asylees

         11  in the larger immigrant population, as well, who

         12  need ESOL classes that are tailored to specific

         13  needs.

         14                 Some other concerns are many

         15  individuals are seeking English classes that offer

         16  flexibility.  Clients have to fit learning English

         17  into their already busy schedule of work and family

         18  life.  This can be a challenge due to the fact that

         19  many clients work long hours, late night shifts,

         20  multiple jobs in order to make ends meet.

         21                 English language learners need

         22  classes that are offered in their neighborhoods

         23  where they work, where they live, where they pray,

         24  where they socialize, and the schedules need to be

         25  flexible to accommodate their busy lives.
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          2                 Classes also have to be offered at a

          3  multitude of levels, so that students are learning

          4  at a level that's appropriate for them.  Many

          5  immigrants with whom we work, and a couple of other

          6  speakers have mentioned this as well, lack basic

          7  literacy skills in their native language and require

          8  instruction in basic education and the native

          9  language, or BENL, before they're able to attend

         10  ESOL classes.  That instruction has been cut back,

         11  as well, at a time when expansion is needed.

         12                 At the other end of the spectrum

         13  immigrants who have achieved low levels of English

         14  proficiency but who need and want greater

         15  proficiency in order to move forward in their lives,

         16  are not able to access ESOL instruction at an

         17  intermediate or advanced level since more and more

         18  ESOL instruction is targeted to those at the lowest

         19  levels.  Also important, special attempts to address

         20  diverse needs such as these should be made, as

         21  instruction programs are developed and expanded in

         22  coming years.

         23                 Catholic Charities has worked to

         24  expand our ESOL offerings for the past five years to

         25  address these concerns.  We've held classes in the
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          2  Lower East Side, Washington Heights, East Harlem,

          3  the South Bronx, Kingsbridge, and the classes have

          4  consistently been well attended.  Students flock to

          5  the opportunity to learn, as we've heard.  They

          6  realize better than anyone else that English offers

          7  an opportunity to better their life in innumerable

          8  ways.

          9                 While Catholic Charities is proud of

         10  the contributions we've made to the lives of our

         11  English language learner clients, we see so much

         12  more that needs to be done, as everyone else has who

         13  has spoken here.  Classes are severely unfunded.

         14  Also, the funding available is inconsistent.  It's

         15  volatile.  It's not flexible enough for the reality

         16  of offering English classes in underserved

         17  communities, and often doesn't take into account the

         18  actual start- up costs of hiring and training

         19  teachers and securing appropriate classroom space.

         20                 No one doubts that it's incredibly

         21  crucial for immigrants to learn English, as we've

         22  heard many times here today. As New York City's

         23  population becomes ever more diverse, learning

         24  English becomes increasingly important in every

         25  aspect of daily life.
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          2                 We've witnessed firsthand that

          3  immigrants want to learn English.  They're aware

          4  that without the language skills to thrive in the

          5  United States, they will remain in low level jobs

          6  that offer little room to grow, and because of the

          7  critical shortages and the fact that the classes are

          8  offered through non profits, CBO's, faith based

          9  groups, universities, the Department of Education

         10  and public libraries, it's hard to see it as an

         11  organized system dealt with through a comprehensive

         12  citywide clearing house. So it makes it difficult

         13  for clients to find out how to access an ESOL class

         14  in a specific neighborhood and at the correct level.

         15                 Catholic Charities certainly supports

         16  efforts to increase funding aimed at ESOL programs.

         17  We need to focus not only on improving the existing

         18  services, but also on creating a strong, sustainable

         19  infrastructure to support ESOL programs in a

         20  consistent and ongoing manner.

         21                 Once again, thank you for giving us

         22  the opportunity to testify on this important issue.

         23                 MR. PIERRE:  Good afternoon.  My name

         24  is Jude Pierre, and I want to thank you for this

         25  opportunity to speak with you today about the
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          2  critical need to support and increase the

          3  availability of free, high quality ESOL courses in

          4  New York City.

          5                 I am the Manager of Adult and Family

          6  Literacy programs at CAMBA, which is one of

          7  Brooklyn's largest community based organizations

          8  serving over 30,000 individuals per year.  We

          9  provide a wide array of integrated services to

         10  families and individuals in the following program

         11  areas:  Housing and housing services, HIV and AIDS,

         12  and health- related services, economic development,

         13  family and youth services and education and

         14  training. Our mission is to provide services which

         15  connect people with opportunities to enhance their

         16  quality of life.  CAMBA has been providing ESOL

         17  courses to newly arrived immigrants since our

         18  founding about 30 years ago.  We've worked with

         19  refugees from Southeast Asia living in Flatbush.

         20  Also part of that group is a large number of people

         21  from really all over the world, from the Caribbean

         22  and everywhere.

         23                 The thing about it at this point, we

         24  provide three sessions of classes per day.  We have

         25  classes in the morning, in the afternoon and in the

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  evening, 9 to 12, 1:30 to 5 and 5:30 to 9. In each

          3  session we serve about 500 people.  But still the

          4  demand we have we can't keep up with it.  Currently,

          5  we're offering a total of 22 classes per day, 16 of

          6  which are ESOL classes, but yet, currently we have

          7  over 400 ESOL applicants on our waiting list. We, of

          8  course, refer them to other agencies in the

          9  community trying to see if they could enroll them,

         10  but, to date, they are still waiting to be placed in

         11  classes.

         12                 What I would like to point out is the

         13  investment, when it is made in the life of an

         14  immigrant.  In my written testimony, there's the

         15  story of a former student of mine by the name of

         16  Eddie who, when he came to this country in the mid-

         17  90's had to go to ESOL classes, and then eventually

         18  he came to CAMBA and was involved in our GED

         19  preparation classes.  About the year 2000, he got

         20  his GED diploma, and we somewhat lost touch for

         21  awhile, but a few months ago I was in my office, and

         22  I got a call from the front desk, and they said

         23  well, you've been talking about hiring a teacher's

         24  aide.  There's somebody here who's interested in the

         25  position, and the front desk staff said, well, he
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          2  also said he was a former student of yours.  I ran

          3  to the front desk, and there was Eddie who is now

          4  attending Brooklyn College completing a BA in

          5  English.  Prior to that, he was over at Kingsborough

          6  where he had an associate degree in computer

          7  sciences.  Then he transferred to Brooklyn since I

          8  think 2003, and he is about to get his degree in

          9  English.  Last night late, I was working on his

         10  hiring packet, and in the next few days he may be

         11  one of our teachers.

         12                 What I want to point out is the fact

         13  that when we invest in immigrants, we are investing

         14  in the community.  These people, they come back, and

         15  they make the communities stronger. They are very

         16  proud people.  They are not people who just want to

         17  sit around and have people do for them.  They want

         18  to do for themselves.  Eddie is a very clear example

         19  of that.

         20                 I want to encourage all of you, and I

         21  thank you, of course, for the fact that you make

         22  this forum available to us.  But I really want you

         23  to know that doing this you're reaching not just

         24  this generation, but you're reaching far beyond that

         25  because what Eddie wants to do is to become a
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          2  linguistics professor, and he's already making plans

          3  to get his Master's Degree and his Ph.D.  He is

          4  coming to our agency not to stay there forever.  He

          5  probably doesn't even want my job.  He wants

          6  something better, so that he can have greater

          7  influence.

          8                 Once again, I thank you for this

          9  opportunity.

         10                 MS. BROBYN:  Thank you very much.  My

         11  name is Virginia Brobyn.  I work at African Services

         12  as an ESL teacher, and I appreciate the opportunity

         13  to speak with you.

         14                 I've worked with over 100 students,

         15  and they're from Africa and Haiti.  Our agency is in

         16  Harlem, and most of the students live there.  Some

         17  of them I've met as totally dependent newcomers who

         18  came to America three days ago.  They have big

         19  smiles.  They warm your heart, but they don't know

         20  how to say hello, goodbye, thank- you.  They don't

         21  know how to ask for or receive directions, how to

         22  purchase food, how to rent an apartment, how to

         23  speak to a doctor or ask for emergency help in the

         24  case of a fire or accident.  If they have a fire,

         25  they don't know what to do.  They don't understand
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          2  basic warnings like look out, look out, stop or to

          3  use or identify numbers.  They don't know how to

          4  make or answer a phone call.  They don't know how to

          5  spell their names. They don't know how to say their

          6  address.

          7                 We have other students who have

          8  studied English briefly in their country, and they

          9  may have been teachers themselves or held other

         10  professional positions.  They hope to become

         11  sufficiently fluent to hold a job and to make enough

         12  money to attend college here and to share their

         13  previous training and expertise in a way that will

         14  give them a career and also benefit their new

         15  country, just like our ancestors did.

         16                 Then there are others who have lived

         17  here for a couple of years, and they've managed to

         18  get work.  They're the dishwashers, the pamphlet

         19  distributors, the hair braiders, and they want to

         20  somehow connect with their neighbors and their co-

         21  workers. They want to become a part of the

         22  community.  They want to be able to help their

         23  children with their homework, to communicate with

         24  their teachers, so that their children can be in

         25  that group of New York City public school students
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          2  who do not drop out.

          3                 Learning English is absolutely

          4  crucial for survival in the City.  In ESL classes,

          5  students not only learn to use terminology but to

          6  acquire information that they need for daily living.

          7    They learn what "don't litter" means, but also how

          8  to recycle and where does the trash go, how to make

          9  change and read the information at the Metro card

         10  kiosk and also which is the best one to buy in their

         11  situation.  How to read their electric bill, the

         12  directions on their drug prescription bottles, their

         13  food labels, how to use the bank.  This information

         14  is very difficult to acquire if you don't speak

         15  English.

         16                 Over the years, I've seen my students

         17  grow because they have been given English classes.

         18  I've watched them give back to the community.

         19  Emmanuel, one of my first students, is now pursuing

         20  his master's degree at Teacher's College, and he

         21  teaches math in the New York School System.  Fatou

         22  has finished her course in the health field and

         23  works with the elderly, a talented Tijiane from Togo

         24  is starting FIT this fall.  Michelin is active in

         25  her PTA.  Edgar finally conquered that computer, and
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          2  now he works at a bank.  Some of them have become

          3  citizens.

          4                 The magnitude of their contribution

          5  is still not known, but in the meantime they're

          6  working hard, and they're very grateful for the

          7  opportunity that you have given them.  They say

          8  they're thankful.  They express their gratitude to

          9  me, and they ask that I pass it on.  That's why I'm

         10  here.  Thank you.

         11                 MS. KREIMER:  Thank you, Chairman

         12  Stewart and Members of the Immigration Committee for

         13  hosting this conversation. My name is Frances

         14  Kreimer, and I'm the Advocacy Program Fellow at New

         15  Immigrant Community Empowerment, or NICE.

         16                 NICE is a civil rights and immigrant

         17  advocacy organization working to ensure that

         18  immigrants are informed, active and influential in

         19  civic, governmental and public affairs.  In

         20  following this mission, and responding to the needs

         21  of our community, NICE has expanded over the last

         22  few years to include courses in English for speakers

         23  of other languages and civic literacy.  These

         24  classes quickly became our most popular program.

         25                 Unfortunately, timing, language and
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          2  status barriers made personal testimony by NICE

          3  students almost impossible.  My comments here this

          4  morning are based on conversations with our teachers

          5  and students who have asked me to reiterate the

          6  ultimate importance of ESOL classes as an essential

          7  tool for empowering immigrant communities to become

          8  active participants in our City's civic and economic

          9  life.

         10                 NICE's adult ESOL students make up

         11  about 100 of the approximately 1.7 million New

         12  Yorkers over the age of 5 who speak English less

         13  than very well.  Our students come from all over

         14  Latin America, including many from Ecuador, Mexico

         15  and Columbia.  Many have been here for a significant

         16  period of time, some for up to 20 years.  Most work

         17  in restaurants or construction and have children

         18  either here or in their countries of origin.

         19                 When I asked the students about the

         20  importance of ESOL classes, some initially had

         21  difficulty answering.  They found self- evident the

         22  fundamental importance of learning English while

         23  living, working and raising children in New York.

         24  In their responses they focused particularly on the

         25  need for communication with neighbors, employers and
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          2  teachers.  The benefits of such communication cannot

          3  be overstated, both for immigrant communities and

          4  for all New Yorkers.  All of us gain when neighbors

          5  can talk to each other, when all workers can find

          6  decent jobs in safe environments and at fair wages

          7  and when parents can speak with their children's

          8  teachers.

          9                 Students also mention the ability to

         10  read newspapers, follow American politics, engage

         11  with American banks and financial institutions and

         12  generally integrate into American culture as other

         13  important potential benefits of English classes.

         14  NICE's teachers, the children of immigrants, tell of

         15  the impossible role that immigrants' children are

         16  asked to play with 5- year- olds expected to

         17  translate complex medical information and credit

         18  card statements.

         19                 In addition to these basic elements

         20  of civic and economic participation, many of NICE's

         21  students also noted the importance of English in

         22  accessing basic health and human services. One woman

         23  told of being turned away from a hospital when she

         24  spoke in Spanish and only barely being able to

         25  explain in her limited English that she had an
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          2  important appointment.  Her story is consistent with

          3  the 2005 New York City Comptroller's Report,

          4   "Getting in the Door: Language Barriers to Health

          5  Services at New York City's Hospitals."

          6                 We applaud New York's increasing

          7  commitment to essential translation services,

          8  including Local Law 73, which strengthen language

          9  access to vital health and human services, and New

         10  York State's New Hospital Language Assistance Law of

         11  2006.               However, translation services

         12  are only a partial solution.  Equally important are

         13  initiatives that give the power of language access

         14  directly into the hands of those who need it without

         15  relying on costly intermediaries.

         16                 Direct English language training also

         17  incorporates essential elements of cultural

         18  knowledge, without which a literal translation is

         19  useless.  NICE's English classes focus on civic

         20  literacy using a curriculum that combines grammar

         21  and vocabulary with more cultural knowledge of how

         22  to access health services and financial

         23  institutions.

         24                 As this City improves its translation

         25  services, it has an added incentive to increase its
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          2  investment in ESOL classes, both to facilitate civic

          3  and economic engagement and as a means of reducing

          4  City budget translation costs.

          5                 Anti- immigrant groups have long

          6  argued that immigrants avoid learning English or

          7  choose not to speak English out of an aversion to

          8  integration into the mainstream of American life.

          9  The students and teachers I talk to made it clear

         10  that such an argument is far from the truth.

         11  Rather, as we have discussed, one of the primary

         12  impediments to immigrants learning English is a lack

         13  of opportunities, not a lack of desire.

         14                 For many working immigrants, private

         15  classes are simply unaffordable.  Popular ESOL

         16  programs, such as Zoni, charge $480 for two weeks of

         17  classes.  Even local community college programs are

         18  also often out of immigrant workers' price ranges

         19  with the cheapest, non- intensive options cost

         20  almost $250 per unit.

         21                 Our organization is one of New York's

         22  many community- based ESOL programs for which

         23  financial resources are the sole limiting factor.

         24  Mornings and evenings students literally squeeze

         25  into our reception area and staff offices, and new
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          2  students approach us almost every day.  This

          3  overwhelming desire and need for learning is both

          4  inspiring and daunting.  The staff remains humbled

          5  by students' commitment to study the new language

          6  but frustrated by our lack of resources to respond

          7  adequately.  We know that dozens of community

          8  organizations around the City face a similar

          9  situation, and we look forward to working with City

         10  Council in attempting to meet this demand.

         11                 At NICE we also train young English

         12  proficient immigrants and children of immigrants to

         13  teach the ESOL classes, a job development program

         14  that could also expand enormously with the proper

         15  resources.

         16                 NICE's students asked me to convey

         17  their most sincere gratitude for your attention and

         18  commitment to this issue and their hope that City

         19  Council will continue to increase its investment in

         20  the language empowerment of New York's immigrant

         21  communities for the greater benefit of all residents

         22  of the City.

         23                 MS. ROJAS:  Good afternoon, Members

         24  of City Council. My name is Luza Rojas.  I have been

         25  working as a teacher for the Latin American
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          2  Integration Center in Woodside, Queens for five

          3  years.  Although our ESOL classes are in high

          4  demand, the Latin American Integration Center does

          5  not have enough resources to offer the classes to so

          6  many immigrants that are interested in learning

          7  English and civics.  Whenever we have an enrollment

          8  period for classes, unfortunately, we need to place

          9  the students in a long waiting list.  For example,

         10  we have 1,027 people on a waiting list we had

         11  started just last August.  We don't have the funds

         12  to offer more classes, so people have to wait for

         13  far too long.  They get frustrated and discouraged,

         14  and they have a hard time adjusting to life in New

         15  York.

         16                 Through these years, I have seen how

         17  immigrants students who have had the opportunity to

         18  attend ESOL and civic classes have improved their

         19  lives.  Parents can help children with their

         20  homework, workers can get better salaries, and legal

         21  residents become American citizens.

         22                 Having better English skills help

         23  these people not only to improve all of the above,

         24  but to start socializing and integrating in their

         25  work places.  It also gives them a sense of
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          2  belonging, and let's not forget that language is

          3  culture too.  By learning the language of the

          4  country they are currently living in, much of the

          5  American traditions becomes theirs too.

          6                 Immigrants bring a tremendous amount

          7  to New York City.  The least that we can do is show

          8  them that they are welcome here by making more

          9  classes available to them.  A waiting list of over

         10  1,000 people speaks for itself.  Please do all that

         11  you can to reduce the size of our waiting list by

         12  providing more funds for classes.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Council Member

         14  Palma?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Thank you.

         16  Mr. Pierre, in your testimony, you stated that CAMBA

         17  offers 500 residents three times a day, five days a

         18  week classes.

         19                 MR. PIERRE:  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  And then you

         21  go on to say that through the IOI funding you were

         22  able to provide services, or teach another 120

         23  residents.  Were the 120 were part of the 500, or in

         24  addition to the 500?

         25                 MR. PIERRE:  The 120 was part of it,
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          2  but I need to also say about IOI.  We are only able

          3  to offer classes from the summer to the fall because

          4  the amount of money we got, and it was late, was not

          5  able to continue to the winter cycle and the spring

          6  cycle, so it was just from the summer to the fall

          7  that we served 120 people with the IOI funding.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Thank you.

          9                 MR. PIERRE:  You're welcome.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  I

         11  want to thank you folks.  It's been a long day, and

         12  I want to thank you for your testimony.  We will be

         13  working hard.  I expect you to at least write

         14  letters and to the powers that be, the Mayor, the

         15  Speaker. Let them know that the monies that are

         16  being put aside for ESOL and civics and all is

         17  inadequate.  At least they should really make an

         18  effort to make a difference in this year's budget.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 MR. PIERRE:  Thank you for your time.

         21    Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Our next panel,

         23  we're coming down to the last two panels.  We have

         24  Phyllis Berman.  We have Linda Aritabile, Rachid, I

         25  wouldn't attempt that last name, Bruce Carmel.  What
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          2  we need to do is identify ourselves at the beginning

          3  of your testimony, and let's get into it.  Thank

          4  you.

          5                 MS. ARITABILE:  Hi, I'm Linda

          6  Aritabile from High Bridge Community Life Center.  I

          7  have an appointment, so Phyllis very nicely let me

          8  go first.

          9                 My original testimony, I'll be

         10  honest, had a lot of things in it about the need for

         11  ESOL in the City, the critical shortage.  This is my

         12  first appearance.  Obviously, there's no point in my

         13  repeating any of that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I appreciate

         15  that because you see, everybody was saying the same

         16  thing and repeating it, and I appreciate that

         17  because we are pressed for time.  Thank you.

         18                 MS. ARITABILE:  What I wanted to do

         19  was address a couple of the questions that I heard

         20  and also make one additional point that was raised

         21  earlier, which is when people think of immigration,

         22  they think of ESL, which makes a lot of sense.

         23                 At High Bridge Community Life Center

         24  78 percent of our BE class are immigrants.  This is

         25  because the average person comes in reading at less
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          2  than a 5th grade level in their native language and

          3  also does not speak English.  ESL classes focus on

          4  increasing oral proficiency.  When you get to the

          5  more advanced levels, reading obviously and writing

          6  in English gets mixed in. The average student leaves

          7  reading at a 4th grade level in English. However,

          8  since a much greater ability to read English is

          9  needed than that, what they then do is move into BE

         10  classes.

         11                 There was some question about the

         12  cost per participant.  The state calculates it's

         13  approximately $880.  What they do is they take the

         14  amount of money that they give out, divide it by the

         15  number of students, you end up $880.

         16                 In comparison, the national average

         17  for teaching K through 12 is $7,500.  You can see

         18  there's a large discrepancy. The City itself funds

         19  ESL classes and BE classes at an average

         20  instructional hour rate of somewhere between $74 and

         21  $77.  What that really pays for is a teacher in

         22  front of a class.

         23                 What it does not pay for is the kinds

         24  of comprehensive case management and data collection

         25  and analysis that is needed, so that we can do our
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          2  job as effectively as possible. It doesn't cover

          3  case management when people come in with housing

          4  problems, when people come in with problems with

          5  their kids' schooling, when people come in with a

          6  whole myriad of issues that also need to be

          7  addressed.  It does not pay for helping to connect

          8  them to jobs.  It does not pay for helping to

          9  connect them to future training opportunities.

         10  Every single one of these things has been identified

         11  as critical.

         12                 When CBO's got together and figured

         13  out what would be an instructional hour rate that

         14  would enable us to provide the kind of comprehensive

         15  services that are needed, the rate came to more like

         16  $120 an hour.

         17                 Also, one thing that we all do here

         18  is look at our data very closely in terms of what

         19  does this teach us about how people learn better?

         20  Like one thing we learned is that when people come

         21  in speaking no English, one of the first steps they

         22  need to make is to feel comfortable enough to try to

         23  speak it even if those attempts are unsuccessful.

         24  The act of practicing, whether it's calling another

         25  student on the phone, whether it's going to the
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          2  local Bodega and speaking in English even though the

          3  person behind the counter speaks Spanish, that this

          4  kind of practice is a necessary step.

          5                 But we need to be able to have a

          6  secure base of funding to do the kind of data

          7  analysis to make us more effective. In High Bridge

          8  we can see some of the benefits.  People have talked

          9  about work.  Among our student population in 2006,

         10  students who were fluent in English earned on an

         11  average $2.07 more an hour than students who were

         12  not fluent in English.  This is among a population

         13  of students that do not have a diploma.  It was that

         14  big a gap.  They were twice as likely to be employed

         15  as minimum wages.             For employed students

         16  95 percent said their classes helped them maintain

         17  and advance in their jobs because they could now

         18  understand their supervisors better.  If they worked

         19  in service, food industry, they could understand

         20  customers better.  If they were home health aides,

         21  they were no longer limited to working only with

         22  patients who spoke only their native language.

         23                 In fact, 33 percent of our student

         24  population earned raises within the program year.  I

         25  think we've all talked about the critical need for
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          2  services.  The population is there.  They're on our

          3  waiting list.  There are programs that can track,

          4  manage effective programs and track it, but what has

          5  been lacking is a government commitment to fully

          6  fund this.  Thank you.

          7                 MS. BERMAN:  Good afternoon.  I'm

          8  Phyllis Berman. I've been the Executive Director of

          9  the Riverside Language program, which is located in

         10  Riverside Church on the Upper West Side of Manhattan

         11  since its inception in 1979.  I'm also going to

         12  leave out most of the details of numbers.  You've

         13  heard them.  They're compelling.  You don't need to

         14  hear them again.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I was going to

         16  tell you that, but seeing that you preempted me, I

         17  appreciate it very much.

         18                 MS. BERMAN:  And I appreciated seeing

         19  you at the Coalition for Adult Literacy's rally last

         20  week.

         21                 Riverside was among, in fact, we were

         22  one of the six first community- based organizations

         23  and City University campuses to receive adult basic

         24  education funding from the State of New York in

         25  1979.  In the early years, from 1964 to 1978, those
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          2  monies went only to the Board of Education, or

          3  Boards of Cooperative Education. We were part of

          4  that beginning from the state of letting us, the

          5  CBO's and CUNY, into the adult education world.

          6                 When we began Riverside in 1979, and

          7  it's still so today, we designed it to serve a

          8  particular niche, which refugee resettlement

          9  agencies around New York City had told us was

         10  desperately needed by the population of recently

         11  arrived immigrants and refugees from all over the

         12  world who came to the U.S. and to New York 365 days

         13  each year.

         14                 What these newly arrived refugees

         15  needed, we were told, was intensive English classes

         16  that began frequently, that met for many hours each

         17  day, and ended quickly and successfully with

         18  students whose English language proficiency

         19  increased so fast that they'd soon be able to move

         20  on to their next steps in the resettlement process.

         21  Whether that was going to training programs,

         22  colleges, graduate schools, getting jobs, keeping

         23  jobs, not such just minimum wage jobs, but jobs that

         24  were equivalent, if possible, to their past

         25  experience and training that could actually support
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          2  themselves and their families and also with

          3  benefits.

          4                 The result of that inquiry that we

          5  did before we began Riverside in 1979, is that we

          6  designed it as a full- time, daytime program with

          7  classes meeting five hours a day for six- week

          8  cycles, with new, overlapping cycles, which began

          9  every three to four weeks throughout the school

         10  year.  So that half of our classes ran from mid-

         11  August until early June and the other half from mid

         12  September to late June.  In that way, new immigrants

         13  and refugees would not have to wait more than three

         14  or four weeks before they could be admitted into a

         15  new class cycle.

         16                 The material I gave you today shows

         17  an old article from the New York Times from about 15

         18  years ago, but the key part of that article is the

         19  picture you'll find that shows the assembly hall of

         20  the church jammed with something like 500 people who

         21  were all trying to get into our lottery for places

         22  in free English classes.  We were the first agency

         23  in the City to begin to use lotteries because of the

         24  tons of people who were coming each time we opened

         25  our classes to new students, and we were the first
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          2  agency to stop keeping a waiting list because we

          3  were so overrun.

          4                 Since 1979, we have served more than

          5  15,000 adults from all over the world in our

          6  intensive classes.  Most of them were able in less

          7  than a year to move from our classes into the

          8  English speaking world as students, workers and

          9  parents.  The crises throughout the world haven't

         10  lessened the numbers of immigrants and refugees who

         11  continue to come here.  But the number of spaces

         12  have not kept pace with the need.

         13                 So I'm urging you to increase NYCALI

         14  funds by supporting the bill of Council Member Sara

         15  Gonzalez to add at least an additional $4 million to

         16  NYCALI.

         17                 For several years, and we thank you

         18  for this, the City Council members have thoughtfully

         19  added Immigration Opportunity Initiative funding,

         20  which has supposed ESOL classes around the City and

         21  increased the numbers of students we've been able to

         22  make space for in our classes.

         23                 In the first year of IOI funding, we

         24  at Riverside received $75,000.  At that time, as I

         25  understand it, Council Members gave that money
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          2  directly to the Literacy Office of the Department of

          3  Youth and Community Development, which had been

          4  working with CBO's offering ESOL since the 1980's

          5  when NYCALI first began.  They knew intimately those

          6  organizations all over the City that were equipped

          7  to run successful programs.

          8                 DYCD, by monitoring the programs for

          9  quality and integrity, was able to look at the big

         10  picture across the five boroughs to make sure that

         11  the various needs of different constituencies was

         12  being met.

         13                 As you probably know, right now there

         14  are ESOL classes in the Board of Education, in

         15  libraries, in CUNY and CBO's. There are classes at

         16  night.  There are classes on weekends, classes in

         17  the mornings, and classes in the afternoon.

         18                 Unlike many of our ABE colleagues,

         19  Riverside is not a "neighborhood program."

         20  Throughout our history, because we run intensive

         21  daytime classes, we've had students from all over

         22  City. Our current numbers show 38.5 percent come

         23  from Queens, 23 percent from Brooklyn, 22 percent

         24  from Manhattan, 14 percent from the Bronx and 2.5

         25  percent from Staten Island.
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          2                 Because the program is so intensive,

          3  at least five hours a day, some as many as eight

          4  hours a day, five days a week, newly arrived

          5  immigrants and refugees have traveled out of their

          6  neighborhoods to come to our school because our

          7  history shows that people learn English quickly with

          8  us.

          9                 Often, sometimes a neighborhood

         10  school has students who come all from the same

         11  country and all speak the same language. At

         12  Riverside quite the opposite is true.  Our students

         13  come from every neighborhood in the City, from every

         14  Councilmanic district. They come from all over the

         15  world.  Their only language that they have in common

         16  is the one that they're learning and that's English.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Ma'am, excuse

         18  me.  Could you just wrap up?

         19                 MS. BERMAN:  All right, so to wrap

         20  up, I want to urge you, number one, to baseline the

         21  important IOI funding.  I want to urge you not to

         22  lose sight of the I think two citywide ESOL programs

         23  that, regardless of where they're physically

         24  located, serve every one of the districts in the

         25  City.
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          2                 I'm urging you to enable DYCD to make

          3  those decisions along with you, so that the whole

          4  array of needs is served.

          5                 Finally, I'm asking that the IOI

          6  funds be made at the beginning of each Fiscal Year,

          7  so that programs don't have to squeeze into four or

          8  five or six months, a year's worth of funding,

          9  increasing their rental costs, their number of

         10  teachers that they have for only part of the year.

         11  We need constant and continuous ongoing money, so

         12  that we can do these jobs.  I want to thank you for

         13  all that you've done and ask you to keep doing it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you very

         15  much.  Next?

         16                 MR. ELADLOUNI:  Good morning, Council

         17  Member Stewart, Members of New York City Council and

         18  staff of New York City Council.  My name is Rachid

         19  Eladlouni representing Queens Community House.

         20  Thank you for the opportunity to speak about NYCALI

         21  and IOI funding and the needs that they serve.

         22                 Queens Community House, formerly

         23  Forest Hills Community House, is a settlement house

         24  with 16 sites spanning the borough of Queens and

         25  connecting to nearly 20,000 Queens residents through
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          2  our spectrum of programs and services.

          3                 In our Jackson Heights site, we have

          4  coordinated City and state funding sources to

          5  provide comprehensive immigrant services to over

          6  2,700 immigrants reflecting the diversity of this

          7  corridor of Queens.  The majority of our students

          8  reside in Jackson Heights, Elmhurst, Corona and

          9  Woodside.  Our students cumulatively represent 40

         10  language groups.  Our adult education program is a

         11  highly respected program, scoring a 3.8 out of 4 in

         12  students achieving educational gains.  This is by

         13  state assessments.

         14                 Last year, educational gains for ESOL

         15  Beginning Literacy exceeded 75 percent.  English

         16  language and literacy, citizenship and civics are

         17  taught by highly trained full- time staff.  All our

         18  staff speak another language in addition to English.

         19    Some staff are multi- lingual speaking three to

         20  five languages.

         21                 Adults seek out our program to learn

         22  English for the purpose of improving their lives,

         23  supporting their children's educational advancement,

         24  attaining higher paying positions and becoming more

         25  civically involved.  Despite our ability to serve
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          2  600 immigrants per day, we still turn away three out

          3  of every four applicants because we don't have space

          4  for them basically.

          5                 Our immigrant communities really do

          6  want to learn English.  NYCALI funding and IOI

          7  funding are essential programs that give us the

          8  ability to meet the diverse learning needs of

          9  immigrant communities.

         10                 NYCALI is an adult education

         11  initiative geared toward adult learners meeting

         12  specific goals.  At Queens Community House the

         13  primary goal is learning English.  Secondary goals

         14  include obtaining and/or improving employment and,

         15  among parents, more involvement in children's

         16  school.

         17                 In our program, students attend 12.5

         18  hours of classes for 10- week sessions for each

         19  level of English.  It may take a student four

         20  sessions, equivalent to 40 weeks, September through

         21  June, to move from Level one to Level four.

         22                 IOI is used by Queens Community House

         23  to support citizenship classes and emerging English

         24  classes, the latter for immigrant students who have

         25  limited literacy in their native language.  Queens
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          2  Community House boasts a 95 percent success rate

          3  with citizenship students passing the citizenship

          4  exam.  The emerging English class is geared toward

          5  those populations having little schooling.  For most

          6  students in this category, an ESOL program may seem

          7  intimidating.  Our instructors gear this program so

          8  students gain the skills to advance to our level one

          9  NYCALI classes.  IOI, therefore, is an essential

         10  funding source for our community.

         11                 NYCALI's funding must be shored up so

         12  that immigrant adults have access to intensive

         13  English classes that demonstrate concrete results.

         14  Funding is needed to maximize classroom slots across

         15  the City.  Additionally, instructional hour rates

         16  need to be increased to support teacher salaries,

         17  integration of computer learning with English

         18  instruction, student testing, additional student

         19  support and administrative support.

         20                 Last year we experienced a loss of

         21  $110,000 to our language program.  This was due to

         22  NYCALI funding cuts citywide. In addition, our IOI

         23  allocation was not renewed although we had received

         24  this funding since its inception.

         25                 These losses caused us to close our
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          2  citizenship and literacy classes in March of this

          3  year.  In 2006- 2007 we could have served 3,000

          4  immigrants.  Instead, we have served 2,700.  We are

          5  asking that IOI initiative be supported and

          6  expanded, but also distributed in a manner which

          7  acknowledges past success.  Thank you for the

          8  opportunity to testify.

          9                 MR. CARMEL:  Good afternoon.  My name

         10  is Bruce Carmel from Turning Point.  My goal is to

         11  give the shortest testimony of this hearing.  Thank

         12  you for the opportunity.  Thank you, Council Member

         13  Palma.  Usually I'm at the end of a hearing, and I

         14  end up speaking just to the Chair, so it's quite a

         15  thrill to get to speak to an additional Council

         16  Member.

         17                 Very quickly, I just want to say at

         18  Turning Point we also have a waiting list.  We limit

         19  the waiting list to 200 people because we think it's

         20  unfair to have somebody be number 300 on the waiting

         21  list.  We turn people away every day who can't even

         22  get on the waiting list.

         23                 So we thank you for IOI, urge you to

         24  sign on to Council Member Gonzalez's initiative.

         25  Council Member Barron isn't here.  He blasted the
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          2  Mayor about putting his money where his mouth is.  I

          3  hope the Council can do the same.  What we're asking

          4  the Council to do with Council Member Gonzalez's

          5  initiative, is to match what the Mayor was able to

          6  do.  So if you can put one of your stickers on

          7  Council Member Gonzalez's initiative, we'll be able

          8  to serve 3,000 more people this year.  Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Could you tell

         11  me where your base?

         12                 MR. CARMEL:  We're in South Brooklyn.

         13                 MR. ELADLOUNI:  Jackson Heights,

         14  Queens.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Jackson

         16  Heights?

         17                 MS. BERMAN:  We're based in Upper

         18  Manhattan, but we serve people from all over the

         19  City.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want to thank

         21  you guys for your testimony.  Most of the points

         22  that you bought out, as you see, we are on top of

         23  it, so we will be working on that.  Thank you.

         24                 The last panel, we have Maureen

         25  Doherty.  We have Gloria Blumenthal.  We have Sofia
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          2  Cordero, Katie Kim, and we have Aleksandra

          3  Antonovskaye.  Sorry for the pronunciation.  Well,

          4  basically you have been sitting here and you have

          5  heard most of the testimony, so what I'm asking you

          6  if you can precis what you have to say instead of

          7  repeating some of the -- I know most of the

          8  testimony seem to be what we call repetitive stating

          9  the same facts, the same information that we may

         10  have heard.  So in the interest of time, if you can

         11  precis your testimony, I'm not going to put you on a

         12  time, but I expect you at least shorten it to the

         13  best of your ability, all right?

         14                 MS. DOHERTY:  Hello.  My name is

         15  Maureen Doherty. I'm from the Jewish Community

         16  Center of Staten Island.  I just want to thank you

         17  for the IOI funds we've received.  They've really

         18  helped us reach out to additional neighborhoods.  I

         19  just wanted to point out that Staten Island is a

         20  very fast growing immigrant population.  Our needs

         21  have increased greatly over the last several years,

         22  and we appreciate any additional assistance you can

         23  give us. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I think the

         25  others will take your lead.
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          2                 MS. BLUMENTHAL:  I have a little bit

          3  more to say. Thank you, Chairman Stewart and Members

          4  of the Committee for the opportunity to comment on

          5  the demand for English for speakers of other

          6  languages programs among immigrant adults in New

          7  York City. My name is Gloria Blumenthal, and I'm the

          8  Director of Immigrant Initiatives at the

          9  Metropolitan Council on Jewish Poverty known to you

         10  and many people in the field as Met Council.

         11                 Met Council is a non- profit

         12  organization fighting poverty representing and

         13  coordinating social welfare advocacy efforts of the

         14  grassroots Jewish Community Councils and providing

         15  crisis and poverty intervention services without

         16  regard to race, gender, age, disability, sexual

         17  orientation or language.

         18                 Our network of local Jewish community

         19  councils, known as JCCs, cover 150 neighborhoods

         20  throughout the City, and together we serve more than

         21  100,000 clients each year.  The majority of the

         22  clients served by Met Council, its network and its

         23  partners are immigrants from all over the world.

         24                 We provide anywhere from initial

         25  resettlement services for housing furniture and go
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          2  on down the road as people become more acclimated to

          3  this country.

          4                 We are involved in English language

          5  programs and have seen the need to continue and

          6  expand simple programs for survival needs like being

          7  able to shop and ask directions.  We need to see

          8  more English as a component of vocational training.

          9  We need more workplace literacy.  This is important

         10  for immigrants in the workplace to progress in their

         11  professions, and there is a great need now, as there

         12  is a great effort to increase citizenship

         13  applications, and becoming citizens more civic

         14  English programs for immigrants to prepare for their

         15  citizenship exams.

         16                 We need to see more English for the

         17  elderly who provide childcare and allow their

         18  children to go to work.  These elderly provide

         19  childcare to their grandchildren and are often

         20  called upon to go to doctors, to the school for

         21  their grandchildren and cannot speak adequate

         22  English.  So we would like to see something, more

         23  English, and a lot more creative types of programs

         24  that address those needs.

         25                 Again, we want to see an increase in
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          2  funding for all ESOL programs.  We want to support

          3  Council Member Gonzalez's $4 million commitment to

          4  literacy programs.  We'd like to see a creation of

          5  additional funding opportunities for ESOL to elderly

          6  and for vocational English.

          7                 We'd like to be involved in

          8  developing creative programs of connecting English

          9  programs for the workplace and English programs to

         10  help immigrants learn more about American

         11  institutions such as health care, education and

         12  finance, so that they can proceed beyond the

         13  survival and beginning status.

         14                 Basically, as a very basic need, we

         15  would like to see that funds for IOI be baselined,

         16  or at least be distributed in a much more efficient

         17  manner.  Our contracts for all the agencies that we

         18  are contracting to have not yet been registered.

         19  We've had money for three or four months.  The

         20  agencies are small agencies fronting money and not

         21  knowing how to hire staff, what to do with their

         22  staff in terms of what's going to happen on June

         23  30th after having started programs in March and

         24  April.  So it is a great need to be able to not only

         25  meet the need, but to meet the need in an efficient
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          2  manner because this way we're not really able to

          3  spring up and do what we need to be doing.

          4                 Last but not least, I just want to

          5  say in my many years of working with immigrants,

          6  studies have shown that those who attain language

          7  facility will more easily integrate into American

          8  society, achieve success in the world of work and

          9  will contribute to the well- being of the community.

         10    English programs must continue as is, and must be

         11  developed to meet the changing needs of the

         12  immigrant community.  Thank you.

         13                 MS. KIM:  Good afternoon.  My name is

         14  Katie Kim. I'm a Program Coordinator who develops

         15  and implements the ESL civics program for immigrant

         16  adults at YWCA of Queens in Flushing, where 65

         17  percent of the population is foreign- born

         18  immigrants. Funded by IOI, we serve over 400 people

         19  each year in our adult ESL program.  Each term, like

         20  her next to me, we just didn't get the contract yet,

         21  and we're still looking for the reimbursement for

         22  about eight months after having running the program.

         23                 In my last survey, I asked

         24  participants about their motivations and

         25  expectations of taking ESL classes.  Two major
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          2  reasons why they were taking ESL classes had to do

          3  with getting a job and better participating in their

          4  kids' education.

          5                 Especially, I would like to, as our

          6  students are mostly female Asian immigrants, so I

          7  would like to emphasize on the second reason because

          8  they are mothers of our kids who were born and are

          9  going to school here in America.  Since a lot of

         10  them immigrated to America in hopes of offering

         11  their children better chances for education and

         12  prosperity, they want to participate in PTA and

         13  education related activities and hold strong

         14  relationships with school staff members.  However,

         15  again, the lack of English proficiency is the

         16  biggest barrier for them to do so.  In addition,

         17  they are eager to learn English to promote

         18  communication with family, particularly with their

         19  children who would speak English regularly.

         20                 We also have out of school youth who

         21  are preparing for the GED exam.  Many of them are

         22  from recent immigrant families and still need

         23  language training.  Although most students speak

         24  English quite fluently, they lack confidence in

         25  writing essays, which would advance them to pass the
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          2  GED, obtain employment and receive college

          3  education.

          4                 In order to better acquaint you with

          5  our program, I would like to introduce some excerpts

          6  from the testimony that was written by our ESL

          7  students.

          8                 Tejinder Kaur from Pakiston, 20 years

          9  old.  "I am new in this country.  English is my

         10  problem.  When I speak better English, then I will

         11  start nursing job because this is my future and my

         12  dream."

         13                 Soojung Lee from South Korean, 37

         14  years old.  "I came to America a few years ago.  My

         15  family can't speak so we are always in a dark mood.

         16  Actually I am really embarrassed to my kids because

         17  I don't speak English well.  I always thought I need

         18  to learn English, but I couldn't because I did not

         19  know this free English program.  These days I am

         20  really happy because I met this program.  I think

         21  this program will give happiness to many people like

         22  me.  I wish this program will continue."

         23                 Hetal Patel from India, 34 years old.

         24    "I have to learn English because I live in

         25  America, and most people speak English.  If you do
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          2  not know how to speak English, there are many

          3  problems such as you don't know how to take a bus or

          4  a subway.  You don't know how to explain where you

          5  want to go or what you want to do.  You face even

          6  more problems when you are working with other

          7  people.  If I don't speak English, I have to depend

          8  on others at every moment and every matter."

          9                 Keiko Park from Japan, 48 years old.

         10  I came to the USA almost seven years ago, but until

         11  today I couldn't make enough time to learn English.

         12  Now all my children went to school.  I need to have

         13  communication with their teachers.  Also I feel that

         14  I have to learn more and better communication with

         15  my children."

         16                 Sophia Kim from South Korea, 55 years

         17  old.  "Thank you very much for offering --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Miss --

         19                 MS. KIM:  Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We got the

         21  message.

         22                 MS. KIM:  All right.  About 70

         23  percent of our students were even unable to address

         24  their issues as quoted above. Tai- Shin- Hur, a 70-

         25  year- old permanent resident who is preparing for
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          2  his citizenship exam, told me about her experience

          3  in her native language.  It was when she was trying

          4  to find a government building where she can get the

          5  application form for the citizenship exam. She said

          6  that she felt so miserable as if she became a beggar

          7  or homeless when she got completely lost and did not

          8  know how to ask where she is, how to get to her

          9  destination, and so forth.

         10                 I believe that getting rid of

         11  language barrier through education is a matter of

         12  human rights and dignity as much as it is linked

         13  directly with quality of life.  On behalf of all the

         14  immigrants in the ESOL civics program at the YWCA of

         15  Queens who are struggling with language barrier and

         16  cultural differences, I would like to emphasize that

         17  we still need a long- term and stable funding for

         18  ESOL program.  Not only will it benefit the

         19  participants, but the entire American society as

         20  long as understanding of American culture and

         21  English language unifies the nation of immigrants.

         22  Thank you.

         23                 MS. CORDERO:  Good afternoon.  My

         24  name is Sofia Cordero.  I am the Case Manager at the

         25  Adult Education Program at Project Reach Youth.  I

                                                            145

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  was an ESL student at PRY.  In 1997 I became a

          3  citizen.  Citizenship changed my life for me and for

          4  my family.  Now I can help other people who are like

          5  me.

          6                 Project Reach has been helping

          7  working families for 20 years.  Citizenship has been

          8  a major part of our program.  Since 1997, our CSBG

          9  funding Citizenship program has helped thousands of

         10  students.  Last year, PRY helped 163 students pass

         11  the test within a 12- month period.

         12                 Even after the 12 months, more of our

         13  students keep passing the test.  93 percent of the

         14  PRY students who took the test passed in that 12

         15  month period.  Yet there weren't enough Citizenship

         16  classes then.  Our students came from 31 different

         17  zip codes in Brooklyn and from nine in other

         18  boroughs.  There weren't enough classes where they

         19  lived.

         20                 We urgently need funding for

         21  citizenship classes starting in July when our IOI

         22  runs out and so will other programs. There will be

         23  an even larger rush of new students who will

         24  urgently call for help than last year.  Remember the

         25  financial stakes for them will be even higher.
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          2                 State Education and NYCALI funding is

          3  based on programs showing student progress in going

          4  up educational levels. Yes, citizenship students

          5  want to learn English, but they want to learn it for

          6  the purpose of passing the citizenship test.  The

          7  purpose is citizenship.

          8                 When the goal of citizenship is

          9  reached for one student, PRY wants to be able to put

         10  another in his place.  Then we will be able to help

         11  the maximum number of students our funding allows.

         12  We need a funding source that understands that.

         13                 Please give us and other citizenship

         14  programs a stable, common sense source of funding to

         15  help these legal residents to achieve their goal of

         16  citizenship.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, we thank

         18  you all for your testimony.  We appreciate you guys

         19  taking time out to come down here.  As you see, we

         20  are concerned about the level of funding and we are

         21  making sure that the Administration and the Council

         22  Members know and see that there is definitely a need

         23  because for years there have been inadequate funding

         24  for these programs.

         25                 Even at this stage, it's very poor
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          2  funding in the sense that only three percent of

          3  people who need this service gets the access to this

          4  type of funding.  We're going to be working with you

          5  folks, all the CBO's.  We're going to be working to

          6  make sure at least these programs are available, so

          7  that people can learn English language.  Thank you.

          8  God bless you.  This meeting is adjourned.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 1:16 p.m.)
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